
Sabah Development Bank Berhad - 34638-W 
(Incorporated in Malaysia) 
 
 
Notes to the financial statements 
For the financial year ended 31 December 2013  

18 

 
 

1. Corporate information 
 
Sabah Development Bank Berhad (“the Company”) is a public limited liability company 
incorporated and domiciled in Malaysia. The Company is granted consent in writing by the 
Minister of Finance to incorporate the word ‘Bank’ into its name. The Company is a 
scheduled institution under the Banking and Financial Institutions Act, 1989 and is a 
development financial institution.  
 
The registered office of the Company is situated at 10th Floor, SDB Tower, Wisma Tun 
Fuad Stephens, Kilometre 2.4, Jalan Tuaran, 88300 Kota Kinabalu, Sabah, Malaysia.  
 
The Company is a wholly-owned subsidiary of the State Government of Sabah. 
 
The principal activity of the Company is the provision of finance for development projects. 
The principal activities of the subsidiaries are stated in Note 26 to the financial statements. 
 
There have been no significant changes in the nature of the principal activities during the 
financial year except for the acquisition of Adamus Avenue Sdn. Bhd. and its subsidiaries 
which principally involved in provision of floating, production, storage and offloading system 
as well as being service providers for operations and maintenance of offshore facilities in 
the oil and gas industry. 

 
 
2. Summary of significant accounting policies 

 
2.1 Basis of preparation 

 
The financial statements of the Group and of the Company have been prepared in 
accordance with Malaysian Financial Reporting Standards (“MFRS”), International 
Financial Reporting Standards and the requirements of the Companies Act 1965 in 
Malaysia.  
 
The financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis except as 
disclosed in the accounting policies below. The financial statements are presented in 
Ringgit Malaysia (RM) and all values are rounded to the nearest thousand (RM’000) 
except when otherwise indicated. 
 
The financial statements incorporate all activities relating to the Islamic banking which 
have been undertaken by the Group. Islamic banking activities refer generally to the 
acceptance of deposits, granting of financing and dealing in Islamic Securities under 
the Shariah principles. 
 

2.2 Changes in accounting policies 
 
The accounting policies adopted are consistent with those of the previous financial 
year except as follows: 

 

On 1 January 2013, the Group and the Company adopted the following new and 
amended MFRS and IC Interpretations mandatory for annual financial periods 
beginning on or after 1 January 2013. 
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 
 

2.2 Changes in accounting policies (continued) 
 
 
 
 
Description 

Effective for 
annual periods 
beginning on or 
after 

  

Amendments to MFRS 101: Presentation of Items of Other 
Comprehensive Income 

1 July 2012 

MFRS 3 Business Combinations (IFRS 3 Business Combinations 
issued by IASB in March 2004) 

1 January 2013 

MFRS 127 Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements (IAS 
27 revised by IASB in December 2003) 

1 January 2013 

MFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements 1 January 2013 
MFRS 11 Joint Arrangements 1 January 2013 
MFRS 12 Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities 1 January 2013 
MFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement 1 January 2013 
MFRS 119 Employee Benefits (IAS 19 as amended by IASB in 

June 2011) 
1 January 2013 

MFRS 127 Separate Financial Statements (IAS 27 as amended 
by IASB in May 2011) 

1 January 2013 

MFRS 128 Investment in Associate and Joint Ventures (IAS 28 as 
amended by IASB in May 2011) 

1 January 2013 

IC Interpretation 20 Stripping Costs in the Production Phase of a 
Surface Mine 

1 January 2013 

Amendments to MFRS 7: Disclosures – Offsetting Financial 
Assets and Financial Liabilities 

1 January 2013 

Annual Improvements 2009-2011 Cycle 1 January 2013 
Amendments to MFRS 1: Government Loans 1 January 2013 
Amendments to MFRS 10, MFRS 11 and MFRS 12: Consolidated 

Financial Statements, Joint Arrangements and Disclosure of 
Interests in Other Entities: Transition Guidance 

1 January 2013 

 
Adoption of the above standards and interpretations did not have any effect on the 
financial performance or position of the Group and the Company except for those 
discussed below: 
 
MFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements 
 
MFRS 10 replaces part of MFRS 127 Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements 
that deals with consolidated financial statements and IC Interpretation 112 Consolidation 
– Special Purpose Entities.  
 
Under MFRS 10, an investor controls an investee when (a) the investor has power over 
an investee, (b) the investor has exposure, or rights, to variable returns from its 
investment with the investee, and (c) the investor has ability to use its power over the 
investee to affect the amount of the investor’s returns. Under MFRS 127 Consolidated 
and Separate Financial Statements, control was defined as the power to govern the 
financial and operating policies of an entity so as to obtain benefits from its activities.  
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 
 

2.2 Changes in accounting policies (continued) 
 
MFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 
 
MFRS 10 includes detailed guidance to explain when an investor that owns less than 50 
per cent of the voting shares in an investee has control over the investee. MFRS 10 
requires the investor to take into account all relevant facts and circumstances, 
particularly the size of the investor’s holding of voting rights relative to the size and 
dispersion of holdings of the other vote holders. 
 
MFRS 11 Joint Arrangements 
 
MFRS 11 replaces MFRS 131 Interests in Joint Ventures and IC Interpretation 113 
Jointly-Controlled Entities – Non-monetary Contributions by Venturers. 
 
The classification of joint arrangements under MFRS 11 is determined based on the 
rights and obligations of the parties to the joint arrangements by considering the 
structure, the legal form, the contractual terms agreed by the parties to the arrangement 
and when relevant, other facts and circumstances. Under MFRS 11, joint arrangements 
are classified as either joint operations or joint ventures.  
 
A joint operation is a joint arrangement whereby the parties that have joint control of the 
arrangement have rights to the assets, and obligations for the liabilities, relating to the 
arrangement. A joint venture is a joint arrangement whereby the parties that have joint 
control of the arrangement have rights to the net assets of the arrangement.  
 
MFRS 11 removes the option to account for jointly controlled entities (“JCE”) using 
proportionate consolidation. Instead, JCE that meet the definition of a joint venture must 
be accounted for using the equity method.  
 
MFRS 12 Disclosures of Interests in Other Entities 
 
MFRS 12 includes all disclosure requirements for interests in subsidiaries, joint 
arrangements, associates and structured entities. A number of new disclosures are 
required. This standard affects disclosures only and has no impact on the Group’s 
financial position or performance.  
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 
 

2.2 Changes in accounting policies (continued) 
 
MFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement 
 
MFRS 13 establishes a single source of guidance under MFRS for all fair value 
measurements. MFRS 13 does not change when an entity is required to use fair value, 
but rather provides guidance on how to measure fair value under MFRS. MFRS 13 
defines fair value as an exit price. As a result of the guidance in MFRS 13, the Group re-
assessed its policies for measuring fair values, in particular, its valuation inputs such as 
non-performance risk for fair value measurement of liabilities. MFRS 13 also requires 
additional disclosures.  
 
Application of MFRS 13 has not materiality impacted the fair value measurement of the 
Group. Additional disclosures where required, are provided in the individual notes 
relating to the assets and liabilities whose fair values were determined.  

 
Amendments to MFRS 101: Presentation of Items of Other Comprehensive 
Income 
 
The amendments to MFRS 101 introduce a grouping of items presented in other 
comprehensive income. Items that will be reclassified (“recycled”) to profit or loss at a 
future point in time (eg. net loss or gain on available-for-sale financial assets) have to be 
presented separately from items that will not be reclassified (eg. revaluation of land and 
buildings). The amendments affect presentation only and have no impact on the 
Group’s financial position or performance.  
 
MFRS 127 Separate Financial Statements 
 
As a consequence of the new MFRS 10 and MFRS 12, MFRS 127 is limited to 
accounting for subsidiaries, jointly controlled entities and associates in separate financial 
statements.  
 
MFRS 128 Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures 
 
As a consequence of the new MFRS 11 and MFRS 12, MFRS 128 is renamed as 
MFRS 128 Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures. This new standard describes 
the application of the equity method to investments in joint ventures in addition to 
associates. 
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 
 

2.3 Standards issued but not yet effective  
 
The standards and interpretations that are issued but not yet effective up to the date of 
issuance of the Group’s and the Company’s financial statements are disclosed below. 
The Group and the Company intend to adopt these standards, if applicable, when they 
become effective. 
 
 
 

Description 

Effective for annual 
periods beginning 
on or after 

  
Amendments to MFRS 132: Offsetting Financial Assets and 
 Financial Liabilities 

1 January 2014 

Amendments to MFRS 10, MFRS 12 and MFRS 127: 
 Investment Entities 

1 January 2014 

Amendments to MFRS 136: Recoverable Amount Disclosures 
for Non-Financial Assets 

1 January 2014 

Amendments to MFRS 139: Novation of Derivatives and 
 Continuation of Hedge Accounting 

1 January 2014 

IC Interpretation 21 Levies 1 January 2014 
Amendments to MFRS 119: Defined Benefit Plans: Employee  
 Contributions  

1 July 2014 

Annual Improvements to MFRSs 2010–2012 Cycle 1 July 2014 
Annual Improvements to MFRSs 2011–2013 Cycle 1 July 2014 
MFRS 9 Financial Instruments (IFRS 9 issued by IASB in  
 November 2009) 

To be announced 

MFRS 9 Financial Instruments (IFRS 9 issued by IASB in  
 October 2010) 

To be announced 

MFRS 9 Financial Instruments: Hedge Accounting and  
 amendments to MFRS 9, MFRS 7 and MFRS 139  

To be announced 

 
The directors expect that the adoption of the above standards and interpretations will 
have no material impact on the financial statements in the period of initial application 
except as discussed below: 
 
MFRS 9 Financial Instruments 
 
MFRS 9 reflects the first phase of work on the replacement of MFRS 139 and applies 
to classification and measurement of financial assets and financial liabilities as 
defined in MFRS 139. The standard was initially effective for annual periods 
beginning on or after 1 January 2013, but Amendments to MFRS 9: Mandatory 
Effective Date of MFRS 9 and Transition Disclosures, issued in March 2012, moved 
the mandatory effective date to 1 January 2015. Subsequently, on 14 February 2014, 
it was announced that the new effective date will be decided when the project is 
closer to completion. The adoption of the first phase of MFRS 9 will have an effect on 
the classification and measurement of the Group’s financial assets, but will not have 
an impact on classification and measurements of the Group’s financial liabilities. The 
Group will quantify the effect in conjunction with the other phases, when the final 
standard including all phases is issued. 

http://www.masb.org.my/images/images/MFRS2014/MFRS9/Malaysian%20Financial%20Reporting%20Standard%209%202013%20-%2007022014.pdf
http://www.masb.org.my/images/images/MFRS2014/MFRS9/Malaysian%20Financial%20Reporting%20Standard%209%202013%20-%2007022014.pdf
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 

 
2.4 Basis of consolidation  

 
The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of the 
Company and its subsidiaries as at the reporting date. The financial statements of the 
subsidiaries used in the preparation of the consolidated financial statements are 
prepared for the same reporting date as the Company. Consistent accounting policies 
are applied for like transactions and events in similar circumstances.  
 
The Company controls an investee if and only if the Company has all the following: 
(i) power over the investee (i.e existing rights that give it the current ability to direct 

the relevant activities of the investee); 
(ii) exposure, or rights, to variable returns from its investment with the investee; and  
(iii) the ability to use its power over the investee to affect its returns.  

 
When the Company has less than a majority of the voting rights of an investee, the 
Company considers the following in assessing whether or not the Company’s voting 
rights in an investee are sufficient to give it power over the investee: 
(i) the size of the Company’s holding of voting rights relative to the size and 

dispersion of holdings of the other vote holders;  
(ii) potential voting rights held by the Company, other vote holders or other parties; 
(iii) rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and  
(iv) any additional facts and circumstances that indicate that the Company has, or 

does not have, the current ability to direct the relevant activities at the time that 
decisions need to be made, including voting patterns at previous shareholders’ 
meetings. 
 

Subsidiaries are consolidated when the Company obtains control over the subsidiary 
and ceases when the Company loses control of the subsidiary. All intra-group balances, 
income and expenses and unrealised gains and losses resulting from intra-group 
transactions are eliminated in full. 

 
Losses within a subsidiary are attributed to the non-controlling interests even if that 
results in a deficit balance.  

 
Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in subsidiaries that do not result in the 
Group losing control over the subsidiaries are accounted for as equity transactions. The 
carrying amounts of the Group’s interests and the non-controlling interests are adjusted 
to reflect the changes in their relative interests in the subsidiaries. The resulting 
difference is recognised directly in equity and attributed to owners of the Company.  

 
When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, a gain or loss calculated as the 
difference between (i) the aggregate of the fair value of the consideration received and 
the fair value of any retained interest and (ii) the previous carrying amount of the assets 
and liabilities of the subsidiary and any non-controlling interest, is recognised in profit or 
loss. The subsidiary’s cumulative gain or loss which has been recognised in other 
comprehensive income and accumulated in equity are reclassified to profit or loss or 
where applicable, transferred directly to retained earnings. The fair value of any 
investment retained in the former subsidiary at the date control is lost is regarded as the 
cost on initial recognition of the investment.  
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 

 
2.4 Basis of consolidation (continued) 

 
Business combinations 
 
Acquisitions of subsidiaries are accounted for using the acquisition method. The cost of 
an acquisition is measured as the aggregate of the consideration transferred, measured 
at acquisition date fair value and the amount of any non-controlling interests in the 
acquiree. The Group elects on a transaction-by-transaction basis whether to measure 
the non-controlling interests in the acquiree either at fair value or at the proportionate 
share of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. Transaction costs incurred are expensed 
and included in administrative expenses.  
 
Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer will be recognised at fair 
value at the acquisition date. Subsequent changes in the fair value of the contingent 
consideration which is deemed to be an asset or liability, will be recognised in 
accordance with MFRS 139 either in profit or loss or as a change to other 
comprehensive income. If the contingent consideration is classified as equity, it will not 
be remeasured. Subsequent settlement is accounted for within equity. In instances 
where the contingent consideration does not fall within the scope of MFRS 139, it is 
measured in accordance with the appropriate MFRS. 
 
When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial assets and liabilities 
assumed for appropriate classification and designation in accordance with the 
contractual terms, economic circumstances and pertinent conditions as at the 
acquisition date. This includes the separation of embedded derivatives in host contracts 
by the acquiree. 
 
If the business combination is achieved in stages, the acquisition date fair value of the 
acquirer’s previously held equity interest in the acquiree is remeasured to fair value at 
the acquisition date through profit or loss.  
 
Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess of the aggregate of the 
consideration transferred and the amount recognised for non-controlling interests over 
the net identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed. If this consideration is lower 
than fair value of the net assets of the subsidiary acquired, the difference is recognised 
in profit or loss. The accounting policy for goodwill is set out in Note 2.13. 

 
2.5 Transactions with non-controlling interests 

 
Non-controlling interest represents the equity in subsidiaries not attributable, directly 
or indirectly, to owners of the Company, and is presented separately in the 
consolidated statement of comprehensive income and within equity in the 
consolidated statement of financial position, separately from equity attributable to 
owners of the Company. 
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 

 
2.5 Transactions with non-controlling interests (continued) 

 
Changes in the Company owners’ ownership interest in a subsidiary that do not result 
in a loss of control are accounted for as equity transactions. In such circumstances, 
the carrying amounts of the controlling and non-controlling interests are adjusted to 
reflect the changes in their relative interests in the subsidiary. Any difference between 
the amount by which the non-controlling interest is adjusted and the fair value of the 
consideration paid or received is recognised directly in equity and attributed to 
owners of the parent. 
 

2.6   Foreign currency 
 
a) Functional and presentation currency  

 
The individual financial statements of each entity in the Group are measured 
using the currency of the primary economic environment in which the entity 
operates (“the functional currency”). The consolidated financial statements are 
presented in Ringgit Malaysia (RM), which is also the Company’s functional 
currency. 

 
b) Foreign currency transactions and balances 

 
Transactions in foreign currencies are measured in the respective functional 
currencies of the Company and its subsidiaries and are recorded on initial 
recognition in the functional currencies at exchange rates approximating those 
ruling at the transaction dates. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in 
foreign currencies are translated at the rate of exchange ruling at the reporting 
date. Non-monetary items denominated in foreign currencies that are measured at 
historical cost are translated using the exchange rates as at the dates of the initial 
transactions. Non-monetary items denominated in foreign currencies measured at 
fair value are translated using the exchange rates at the date when the fair value 
was determined. 

 
Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items or on 
translating monetary items at the reporting date are recognised in profit or loss 
except for exchange differences arising on monetary items that form part of the 
Group’s net investment in foreign operations, which are recognised initially in 
other comprehensive income and accumulated under foreign currency translation 
reserve in equity. The foreign currency translation reserve is reclassified from 
equity to profit or loss of the Group on disposal of the foreign operation. 
 
Exchange differences arising on the translation of non-monetary items carried at 
fair value are included in profit or loss for the period except for the differences 
arising on the translation of non-monetary items in respect of which gains and 
losses are recognised directly in equity. Exchange differences arising from such 
non-monetary items are also recognised directly in equity. 
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 
 

2.6   Foreign currency (continued) 
 

c) Foreign operations 
 
The assets and liabilities of foreign operations are translated into RM at the rate of 
exchange ruling at the reporting date and income and expenses are translated at 
exchange rates at the dates of the transactions. The exchange differences arising 
on the translation are taken directly to other comprehensive income. On disposal 
of a foreign operation, the cumulative amount recognised in other comprehensive 
income and accumulated in equity under foreign currency translation reserve 
relating to that particular foreign operation is recognised in the profit or loss. 
 
Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition of foreign 
operations are treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign operations and are 
recorded in the functional currency of the foreign operations and translated at the 
closing rate at the reporting date. 
 

2.7 Cash and cash equivalents 
 

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and on hand, demand deposits, 
and short-term, highly liquid investments that are readily convertible to known 
amount of cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value. 

 
2.8 Financial assets 

 
Initial recognition and measurement 
 
Financial assets are recognised when, and only when, the Group and the Company 
become a party to the contractual provisions of the financial instrument. The 
Company determines the classification of its financial assets at initial recognition. 
 
When financial assets are recognised initially, they are measured at fair value, plus, 
in the case of financial assets not at fair value through profit or loss, directly 
attributable transaction costs.   
 
Subsequent measurement 
 
The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on their classification as 
follows: 
 

a) Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss  
 

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss include financial assets held 
for trading or are designated as such upon initial recognition. Financial assets 
are classified as held for trading if they are acquired for the purpose of trading 
and repurchasing in the near term. This category includes derivative financial 
instruments entered into by the Company that are not designated as hedging 
instruments in hedging relationships. Derivatives, including separated embedded 
derivatives, are also classified as held for trading unless they are designated as 
effective hedging instruments.  
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 
 
2.8 Financial assets (continued) 
 

Subsequent measurement (continued) 
 
a) Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (continued) 

 
The Company has not designated any financial assets upon initial recognition at 
fair value through profit or loss. 
 
Subsequent to initial recognition, financial assets at fair value through profit or 
loss are measured at fair value. Any gains or losses arising from changes in fair 
value are recognised in profit or loss. Net gains or net losses on financial assets 
at fair value through profit or loss do not include exchange differences, interest 
and dividend income. Exchange differences, interest and dividend income on 
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are recognised separately in 
profit or loss.  
 

b) Loans and receivables 
 

Non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not 
quoted in an active market are classified as loans and receivables. 
  
Subsequent to initial recognition, loans and receivables are measured at 
amortised cost using the effective interest method, less impairment. Gains and 
losses are recognised in profit or loss when the loans and receivables are 
derecognised or impaired, and through the amortisation process.  
 

c) Held-to-maturity investments 
  

Non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments and fixed 
maturity are classified as held-to-maturity when the Group has the positive 
intention and ability to hold the investment to maturity. 

 
Subsequent to initial recognition, held-to-maturity investments are measured at 
amortised cost using the effective interest method, less impairment. Gains and 
losses are recognised in profit or loss when the held-to-maturity investments are 
derecognised or impaired, and through the amortisation process. 
 

d) Available-for-sale financial assets  
 

Available-for-sale financial assets include equity and debt securities. Equity 
investments classified as available-for-sale are those, which are neither 
classified as held-for-trading nor designated at fair value through profit or loss. 
Debt securities in this category are those which may be sold in response to 
needs for liquidity or in response to changes in the market conditions.  
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 
 

2.8 Financial assets (continued) 
 

d) Available-for-sale financial assets (continued) 
 
After initial recognition, available-for-sale financial assets are subsequently 
measured at fair value. Any gains or losses from changes in fair value of the 
financial assets are recognised in other comprehensive income, except that 
impairment losses, foreign exchange gains and losses on monetary instruments 
and interest calculated using the effective interest method are recognised in 
profit or loss. The cumulative gain or loss previously recognised in other 
comprehensive income is reclassified from equity to profit or loss as a 
reclassification adjustment when the financial asset is derecognised. Interest 
income calculated using the effective interest method is recognised in profit or 
loss. Dividends on an available-for-sale equity instrument are recognised in 
profit or loss when the Group and the Company's right to receive payment is 
established. 
 
Investments in equity instruments whose fair value cannot be reliably measured 
are measured at cost less impairment loss.  
 

Derecognition 
 
A financial asset is derecognised where the contractual right to receive cash flows 
from the asset has expired or when:   
 
-  The Group transfers the contractual rights to receive the cash flows of the 

financial asset; or 
 
-  The Group retains the contractual rights to receive the cash flows of the 

financial asset, but assumes a contractual obligation to pay the cash flows to 
one or more recipients in a “past-through” arrangement; or  

 
- The Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset and 

either has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, or 
has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of 
the asset, but has transferred control of the asset.  

 
Where the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from an asset and 
has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the 
asset nor transferred control of the asset, the asset is recognised to the extent of the 
Group’s continuing involvement in the asset. Continuing involvement that takes the 
form of a guarantee over the transferred asset is measured at the lower of the 
original carrying amount of the asset and the maximum amount of consideration that 
the Group could be required to repay.  

 
Where continuing involvement takes the form of a written and/or purchased option on 
the transferred asset, the extent of the Group’s continuing involvement is the amount 
of the transferred asset that the Group may repurchase, except that in the case of a 
written put option on an asset measured at fair value, the extent of the Group’s 
continuing involvement is limited to the lower of the fair value of the transferred asset 
and the option exercise price.  
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 
 

2.8 Financial assets (continued) 
 

Derecognition (continued) 
 

On derecognition of a financial asset in its entirety, the difference between the 
carrying amount and the sum of the consideration received and any cumulative gain 
or loss that had been recognised in other comprehensive income is recognised in 
profit or loss. 
 
Date of recognition 
 
All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised or 
derecognised on the trade date i.e., the date that the Group and the Company 
commit to purchase or sell the asset. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases 
or sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets within the period generally 
established by regulation or convention in the marketplace concerned. 
 
Reclassification of financial assets 
 
The Group and the Company may choose to reclassify non-derivative assets out 
from the held-for-trading category, in rare circumstances, where the financial assets 
are no longer held for the purpose of selling or repurchasing in the short term. In 
addition, the Group and the Company may also choose to reclassify financial assets 
that would meet the definition of loans and receivables out of the held-for-trading or 
available-for-sale categories if the Group and the Company have the intention and 
ability to hold the financial asset for the foreseeable future or until maturity.  
 
Reclassifications are made at fair value as at the reclassification date, whereby the 
fair value becomes the new cost or amortised cost, as applicable. Any fair value 
gains or losses previously recognised in the income statement are not reversed.  
 

2.9 Impairment of financial assets  
 

The Group and the Company assess at each reporting date whether there is any 
objective evidence that a financial asset is impaired.  

 
a) Financial assets carried at amortised cost 

 
For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the Group first assesses whether 
objective evidence of impairment exists individually for financial assets that are 
individually significant, or collectively for financial assets that are not individually 
significant. If the Group determines that no objective evidence of impairment 
exists for an individually assessed financial asset, whether significant or not, it 
includes the asset in a group of financial assets with similar credit risk 
characteristics and collectively assesses them for impairment. Assets that are 
individually assessed for impairment and for which an impairment loss is, or 
continues to be recognised are not included in a collective assessment of 
impairment. 
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 
 

2.9 Impairment of financial assets (continued) 
 

a) Financial assets carried at amortised cost (continued) 
 

If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss on financial assets carried 
at amortised cost has been incurred, the amount of the loss is measured as the 
difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of 
estimated future cash flows discounted at the financial asset’s original effective 
interest rate. If a loan has a variable interest rate, the discount rate for measuring 
any impairment loss is the current effective interest rate. The carrying amount of 
the asset is reduced through the use of an allowance account. The impairment 
loss is recognised in profit or loss. 
 
When the asset becomes uncollectible, the carrying amount of impaired financial 
asset is reduced directly or if an amount was charged to the allowance account, 
the amounts charged to the allowance account are written off against the 
carrying value of the financial asset. 
 
To determine whether there is objective evidence that an impairment loss on 
financial assets has been incurred, the Group considers factors such as the 
probability of insolvency or significant financial difficulties of the debtor and 
default or significant delay in payments.  
 
If in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the 
decrease can be related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment 
was recognised, the previously recognised impairment loss is reversed to the 
extent that the carrying amount of the asset does not exceed its amortised cost 
at the reversal date. The amount of reversal is recognised in profit or loss.  
 

b) Unquoted equity securities carried at cost 
 
If there is objective evidence (such as significant adverse changes in the 
business environment where the issuer operates, probability of insolvency or 
significant financial difficulties of the issuer) that an impairment loss on financial 
assets carried at cost has been incurred, the amount of the loss is measured as 
the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of 
estimated future cash flows discounted at the current market rate of return for a 
similar financial asset. Such impairment losses are not reversed in subsequent 
periods. 
 

c) Available-for-sale financial assets  
 
In the case of equity investments classified as available-for-sale, objective 
evidence of impairment include (i) significant financial difficulty of the issuer or 
obligor, (ii) information about significant changes with an adverse effect that have 
taken place in the technological, market, economic or legal environment in which 
the issuer operates, and indicates that the cost of the investment in equity 
instrument may not be recovered; and (iii) a significant or prolonged decline in 
the fair value of the investment below its costs. ‘Significant’ is to be evaluated 
against the original cost of the investment and ‘prolonged’ against the period in 
which the fair value has been below its original cost. 
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 
 

2.9 Impairment of financial assets (continued) 
 
c) Available-for-sale financial assets (continued)  

 
If an available-for-sale financial asset is impaired, an amount comprising the 
difference between its acquisition cost (net of any principal repayment and 
amortisation) and its current fair value, less any impairment loss previously 
recognised in profit or loss, is transferred from other comprehensive income and 
recognised in profit or loss. Reversals of impairment losses in respect of equity 
instruments are not recognised in profit or loss; increase in their fair value after 
impairment are recognised directly in other comprehensive income. 
 

2.10 Property, plant and equipment 
 

All items of property, plant and equipment are initially recorded at cost. Subsequent to 
recognition, property, plant and equipment other than freehold land and buildings are 
measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses. 
The cost includes the cost of replacing part of the property, plant and equipment and 
borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or 
production of a qualifying property, plant and equipment. The accounting policy for 
borrowing costs is set out in Note 2.22. The cost of an item of property, plant and 
equipment is recognised as an asset if, and only if, it is probable that future economic 
benefits associated with the item will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be 
measured reliably.   

 
When significant parts of property, plant and equipment are required to be replaced in 
intervals, the Group recognises such parts as individual assets with specific useful 
lives and depreciation, respectively. Likewise, when a major inspection is performed, 
its cost is recognised in the carrying amount of the plant and equipment as a 
replacement if the recognition criteria are satisfied. All other repairs and maintenance 
costs are recognised in profit or loss as incurred. 
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 

 
2.10 Property, plant and equipment (continued) 

 
Freehold land has an unlimited useful life and therefore is not depreciated. 
Depreciation is computed on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of 
the assets as follows: 

 
- Leasehold land and buildings: remaining lease terms 
- Leasehold improvements and office renovation: 4 to 10 years 
- Motor vehicles: 4 to 7 years  
- Office equipment, furniture and fittings: 3 to 10 years 
- Plant, machinery and equipment: 4 to 20 years 
- Vessels: 20 to 21 years 

 
The carrying values of property, plant and equipment are reviewed for impairment 
when events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value may not be 
recoverable.  
 
The residual value, useful life and depreciation method are reviewed at each financial 
year-end, and adjusted prospectively, if appropriate.  
 

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no 
future economic benefits are expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss on 
derecognition of the asset is included in the profit or loss in the year the asset is 
derecognised. 

 
2.11 Investment properties 

 
Investment properties are initially measured at cost, including transaction costs. 
Subsequent to initial recognition, investment properties are measured at cost less 
accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses. The depreciation 
policy for investment properties is in accordance with that for depreciable property, 
plant and equipment as described in Note 2.10. 
 
A property interest under an operating lease is classified and accounted for as an 
investment property on a property-by-property basis when the Company holds it to 
earn rentals or for capital appreciation or both. Any such property interest under an 
operating lease classified as an investment property is carried at fair value. 
 
Investment properties are derecognised when either they have been disposed of or 
when the investment property is permanently withdrawn from use and no future 
economic benefit is expected from its disposal. Any gain or loss on the retirement or 
disposal of an investment property is recognised in profit or loss in the year of 
retirement or disposal.  
 
Transfers are made to or from investment property only when there is a change in 
use. For a transfer from investment property to owner-occupied property, the deemed 
cost for subsequent accounting is the fair value at the date of change in use. For a 
transfer from owner-occupied property to investment property, the property is 
accounted for in accordance with the accounting policy for property, plant and 
equipment set out in Note 2.10 up to the date of change in use. 
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 
 

2.12 Non-current assets held-for-sale 
 
Non-current assets are classified as held-for-sale if their carrying amounts will be 
recovered principally through a sale transaction rather than through continuing use. 
This condition is regarded as met only when the sale is highly probable and the asset 
is available for immediate sale in its present condition subject only to terms that are 
usual and customary. 

 
Immediately before classification as held-for-sale, the measurement of the non-
current assets is brought up-to-date in accordance with applicable MFRSs. Then, on 
initial classification as held-for-sale, non-current assets (other than the investment 
properties, deferred tax assets and financial assets) are measured in accordance to 
MFRS 5 that is at the lower of carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell. Any 
differences are included in profit or loss. 
 

2.13 Intangible assets 
 

a) Goodwill 
 

Goodwill is initially measured at cost. Following initial recognition, goodwill is 
measured at cost less accumulated impairment losses.  

 
For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired is allocated, from the 
acquisition date, to each of the Group’s cash-generating units that are expected 
to benefit from the synergies of the combination.  

 
The cash-generating unit to which goodwill has been allocated is tested for 
impairment annually and whenever there is an indication that the cash-
generating unit may be impaired, by comparing the carrying amount of the cash-
generating unit, including the allocated goodwill, with the recoverable amount of 
the cash-generating unit. Where the recoverable amount of the cash-generating 
unit is less than the carrying amount, an impairment loss is recognised in the 
profit or loss. Impairment losses recognised for goodwill are not reversed in 
subsequent periods.  

 
Where goodwill forms part of a cash-generating unit and part of the operation 
within that cash-generating unit is disposed of, the goodwill associated with the 
operation disposed of is included in the carrying amount of the operation when 
determining the gain or loss on disposal of the operation. Goodwill disposed of in 
this circumstance is measured based on the relative fair values of the operations 
disposed of and the portion of the cash-generating unit retained.  

 
b) Other intangible assets 

 
Intangible assets acquired separately are measured initially at cost. The cost of 
intangible assets acquired in a business combination is their fair value as at the 
date of acquisition. Following initial acquisition, intangible assets are measured 
at cost less any accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment losses.   
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 
 

2.13 Intangible assets (continued) 
 
b) Other intangible assets (continued) 
 

Intangible assets with finite useful lives are amortised over the estimated useful 
lives and assessed for impairment whenever there is an indication that the 
intangible asset may be impaired. The amortisation period and the amortisation 
method are reviewed at least at each financial year-end.  Changes in the 
expected useful life or the expected pattern of consumption of future economic 
benefits embodied in the asset is accounted for by changing the amortisation 
period or method, as appropriate, and are treated as changes in accounting 
estimates. The amortisation expense on intangible assets with finite lives is 
recognised in profit or loss.  

 
Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives or not yet available for use are tested 
for impairment annually, or more frequently if the events and circumstances 
indicate that the carrying value may be impaired either individually or at the cash-
generating unit level. Such intangible assets are not amortised. The useful life of 
an intangible asset with an indefinite useful life is reviewed annually to determine 
whether the useful life assessment continues to be supportable. If not, the 
change in useful life from indefinite to finite is made on a prospective basis.  

 
Gains or losses arising from derecognition of an intangible asset are measured 
as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of 
the asset and are recognised in profit or loss when the asset is derecognised.  

 
Water concession rights 
 
Water concession rights were acquired in business combinations and are amortised 
on a straight line basis over the useful life of the concession period. 
 
Contract development costs 
 
Contract development costs which can generate specific and identifiable future 
benefits are capitalised and are measured at cost less any accumulated amortisation 
and accumulated impairment losses, if any. These intangible assets are amortised on 
a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of the respective contracts and 
assessed for impairment whenever there is an indication that the intangible assets 
may be impaired. The amortisation period and amortisation method are reviewed at 
least at each financial period end. Changes in the expected useful life or the 
expected pattern of consumption of future economic benefits embodied in the asset is 
accounted for by changing amortisation period or method, as appropriate, and are 
treated as changes in accounting estimates. The amortisation expense on intangible 
assets with finite lives is recognised in profit or loss. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Sabah Development Bank Berhad - 34638-W 
(Incorporated in Malaysia) 
 
 
Notes to the financial statements 
For the financial year ended 31 December 2013  

35 

 
2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 
 

2.14 Subsidiaries 
 

A subsidiary is an entity over which the Group has all the following: 
(i) power over the investee (i.e existing rights that give it the current ability to direct 

the relevant activities of the investee); 
(ii) exposure, or rights, to variable returns from its investment with the investee; and  
(iii) the ability to use its power over the investee to affect its returns.  
 
In the Company’s separate financial statements, investments in subsidiaries are 
accounted for at cost less impairment losses. On disposal of such investments, the 
difference between net disposal proceeds and their carrying amounts is included in 
profit or loss.  

 
2.15 Investments in associates 

 
An associate is an entity in which the Group has significant influence. Significant 
influence is the power to participate in the financial and operating policy decisions of 
the investee but is not control or joint control over those policies. 
 
On acquisition of an investment in associate, any excess of the cost of investment 
over the Group’s share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities of 
the investee is recognized as goodwill and included in the carrying amount of the 
investment. Any excess of the Group’s share of the net fair value of the identifiable 
assets and liabilities of the investee over the cost of investment is excluded from the 
carrying amount of the investment and is instead included as income in the 
determination of the Group’s share of the associate’s profit or loss for the period in 
which the investment is acquired. 
 
An associate is equity accounted for from the date on which the investee becomes an 
associate. 
 
Under the equity method, on initial recognition the investment in an associate is 
recognized at cost, and the carrying amount is increased or decreased to recognize 
the Group’s share of the profit or loss and other comprehensive income of the 
associate or joint venture after the date of acquisition. When the Group’s share of 
losses in an associate equal or exceeds its interest in the associate, the Group does 
not recognize further losses, unless it has incurred legal or constructive obligations or 
made payments on behalf of the associate. 
 
Profits and losses resulting from upstream and downstream transactions between the 
Group and its associate are recognized in the Group’s financial statements only to the 
extent of unrelated investors’ interests in the associate. Unrealised losses are 
eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the asset 
transferred. 
 
The financial statements of the associates are prepared as of the same reporting date 
as the Company. Where necessary, adjustments are made to bring the accounting 
policies in line with those of the Group. 

 
 



Sabah Development Bank Berhad - 34638-W 
(Incorporated in Malaysia) 
 
 
Notes to the financial statements 
For the financial year ended 31 December 2013  

36 

 
2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 

 
2.16 Exploration and evaluation assets 
 

Oil and gas exploration and evaluation expenditure is accounted for using the 
successful efforts method of accounting. 
 
Exploration and evaluation activity involves the search for hydrocarbon resources, the 
determination of technical feasibility and the assessment of commercial viability of an 
identified resource. 
 
Costs paid in connection with a right to explore in an exploration area are capitalised 
in intangible assets. These costs are reviewed at each reporting date. This review 
includes confirming that exploration drilling is still under way or firmly planned, or that 
it has been determined, or work is under way to determine that the discovery is 
economically viable based on a range of technical and commercial considerations 
and sufficient progress is being made on establishing development plans and timing. 
 
If no future activity is planned or the license has been relinquished or has expired, the 
carrying value of the rights is written off through profit or loss. Upon recognition of 
proved reserves and internal approval for development, the relevant expenditure is 
transferred to oil and gas properties. 
 
Once the legal right to explore has been acquired, costs directly associated with an 
exploration well are capitalised as exploration and evaluation intangible assets until 
the drilling of well is complete and the results have been evaluated. These costs 
include geological and geophysical cost, directly attributable employee remuneration, 
materials and fuel used, rig costs and payments made to contractors. 
 
If no potentially commercial hydrocarbons are discovered, the exploration asset is 
written off through profit or loss as a dry hole. If extractable hydrocarbons are found 
and, subject to further appraisal activity (e.g., the drilling of additional wells), are likely 
to be capable of being commercially developed, the costs continue to be carried as 
an intangible asset while sufficient/continued progress is made in assessing the 
commerciality of the hydrocarbons. 
 
All such capitalised costs are subject to technical, commercial and management 
review, as well as review for indicators of impairment at least once a year. This is to 
confirm the continued intent to develop or otherwise extract value from the discovery. 
When this is no longer the case, the costs are written off through profit or loss. 
 
When proved reserves of oil and natural gas are identified and development is 
sanctioned by management, the relevant capitalised expenditure is first assessed for 
impairment and (if required) any impairment loss is recognised, then the remaining 
balance is transferred to oil and gas properties. 
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 
 
2.17 Inventories 
 

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost of raw 
materials and finished goods are determined on a weighted average cost basis, and 
cost of consumables is comprised purchase costs and costs incurred in bringing the 
inventories to their present location and condition. 

 
Where necessary, allowance is provided for damaged, obsolete and slow moving 
items to adjust the carrying value of inventories to the lower of cost and net 
realisable value. 
 
Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business 
less the estimated costs of completion and the estimated costs necessary to make 
the sale. 

 
2.18 Impairment of non-financial assets 

 
The Group assesses at each reporting date whether there is an indication that an 
asset may be impaired.  If any indication exists, or when an annual impairment testing 
for an asset is required, the Group makes an estimate of the asset’s recoverable 
amount.  
 
An asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s or cash generating unit’s 
fair value less costs of disposal and its value in use. For the purpose of assessing 
impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are separately 
identifiable cash flows (cash-generating units (“CGU”)).  

 
Where the carrying amount of an asset or CGU exceeds its recoverable amount, the 
asset is considered impaired and is written down to its recoverable amount. In 
assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows expected to be generated by 
the asset are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that 
reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific 
to the asset. In determining fair value less costs of disposal, recent market 
transactions are taken into account, if available. If no such transactions can be 
identified, an appropriate valuation model is used. Impairment losses recognised in 
respect of a CGU or groups of CGUs are allocated to reduce the carrying amount of 
the assets in the unit or groups of units on a pro-rata basis. 
 
The Group bases its impairment calculation on detailed budgets and forecast 
calculations which are prepared separately for each of the Group’s CGU to which the 
individual assets are allocated. These budgets and forecast calculations are generally 
covering a period of five years. For longer periods, a long-term growth rate is 
calculated and applied to project future cash flows after the fifth year. 
 
Impairment losses are recognised in profit or loss.  
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 
 

2.18 Impairment of non-financial assets (continued) 
 
For assets excluding goodwill, an assessment is made at each reporting date as to 
whether there is any indication that previously recognised impairment losses may no 
longer exist or may have decreased. If such indication exist, the Group estimates the 
asset’s or CGU’s recoverable amount. A previously recognised impairment loss is 
reversed only if there has been a change in the estimates used to determine the 
asset’s recoverable amount since the last impairment loss was recognised. If that is 
the case, the carrying amount of the asset is increased to its recoverable amount. 
That increase cannot exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, 
net of depreciation, had no impairment loss been recognised previously. Such 
reversal is recognised in profit or loss  
 

2.19 Financial liabilities  
 

Initial recognition and measurement 
 

Financial liabilities are recognised when, and only when, the Group becomes a party 
to the contractual provisions of the financial instrument. The Group determines the 
classification of its financial liabilities at initial recognition. 
 
Subsequent measurement 
 
The measurement of financial liabilities depends on their classification as follows: 

 
a) Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss  

 
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss include financial liabilities 
held for trading and financial liabilities designated upon initial recognition as at 
fair value through profit or loss. 

 
Financial liabilities are classified as held for trading if they are acquired for the 
purpose of selling in the near term. This category includes derivative financial 
instruments entered into by the Group that are not designated as hedging 
instruments in hedge relationships. Separated embedded derivatives are also 
classified as held for trading unless they are designated as effective hedging 
instruments. 
 
Subsequent to initial recognition, financial liabilities at fair value through profit or 
loss are measured at fair value. Any gains or losses arising from changes in fair 
value of the financial liabilities are recognised in profit or loss. 
 
The Group has not designated any financial liabilities upon initial recognition at 
fair value through profit or loss. 
 

b) Financial liabilities at amortised cost  
 

After initial recognition, financial liabilities that are not carried at fair value 
through profit or loss are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the 
effective interest method. Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss when 
the liabilities are derecognised, and through the amortisation process. 
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 

 
2.19 Financial liabilities (continued) 

 
b) Financial liabilities at amortised cost (continued) 

 
Deposits from customers are stated at placement values. 
 
Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred, 
and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest 
method.  
 
Payables are recognised initially at fair value plus directly attributable transaction 
costs and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest 
method. 
 
Other liabilities are stated at cost which is the fair value of the consideration 
expected to be paid in the future for goods and services received. 
 
For other financial liabilities, gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss 
when the liabilities are derecognised, and through the amortisation process.  

 
De-recognition 
 
A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is 
discharged or cancelled or expires. When an existing financial liability is replaced by 
another from the same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of an 
existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or modification is 
treated as a de-recognition of the original liability and the recognition of a new 
liability, and the difference in the respective carrying amounts is recognised in profit 
or loss. 

 
2.20 Provisions 

 
Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation (legal or 
constructive) as a result of a past event, it is probable that an outflow of economic 
resources will be required to settle the obligation and the amount of the obligation 
can be estimated reliably.  
 
Provisions are reviewed at each reporting date and adjusted to reflect the current 
best estimate. If it is no longer probable that an outflow of economic resources will 
be required to settle the obligation, the provision is reversed. If the effect of the time 
value of money is material, provisions are discounted using a current pre tax rate 
that reflects, where appropriate, the risks specific to the liability. When discounting is 
used, the increase in the provision due to the passage of time is recognised as a 
finance cost. 
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 
 

2.21 Financial guarantee  
 

A financial guarantee contract is a contract that requires the issuer to make specified 
payments to reimburse the holder for a loss it incurs because a specified debtor fails 
to make payment when due in accordance with the terms of a debt instruments.  
 

Financial guarantees are recognised initially as a liability at fair value, adjusted for 
transaction costs that are directly attributable to the issuance of the guarantee. 
Subsequent to initial recognition, financial guarantees are recognised as income in 
profit or loss over the period of the guarantee. If it is probable that the liability will be 
higher than the amount initially recognized less amortization, the liability is recorded 
at the higher amount with the difference charged to profit or loss. 
 

2.22 Borrowing costs 
 

Borrowing costs are capitalised as part of the cost of a qualifying asset if they are 
directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of that asset. 
Capitalisation of borrowing costs commences when the activities to prepare the 
asset for its intended use or sale are in progress and the expenditures and 
borrowing costs are incurred. Borrowing costs are capitalised until the assets are 
substantially completed for their intended use or sale.  
 

All other borrowing costs are expensed in the period they occur. Borrowing costs 
consist of interest and other costs that the Group and the Company incurred in 
connection with the borrowing of funds. 
 

2.23 Employee benefits 
 

a) Defined contribution plans 
 
The Group participates in the national pension schemes as defined by the laws 
of the countries in which it has operations. The Malaysian companies in the 
Group make contributions to the Employee Provident Fund in Malaysia, a 
defined contribution pension scheme. Contributions to defined contribution 
pension schemes are recognised as an expense in the period in which the 
related service is performed.  

 

b) Employee leave entitlement  
 
Employee entitlements to annual leave are recognised as a liability when they 
accrue to the employees. The estimated liability for leave is recognised for 
services rendered by employees up to the reporting date. 

 

c) Defined benefit plan 
 

The Company operates an unfunded defined benefit retirement plan. The benefit 
plan becomes vested after ten years of service. The costs of defined benefit plan 
are determined based on employees’ basic salary and the number of completed 
years of service. No actuarial valuation has been conducted on the defined 
benefit plan as the directors consider the discounting effects of defined benefit 
obligations and any actuarial gains or losses to be insignificant to the Company.  
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 
 
2.24 Leases 

 
The determination of whether an arrangement is, or contains a lease, is based on 
the substance of the arrangement at inception date: whether fulfilment of the 
arrangement is dependent on the use of a specific asset or assets and the 
arrangement conveys a right to use the asset, even if that right is not explicitly 
specified in an arrangement. 

 
a) As lessee 

 
Finance leases, which transfer to the Group substantially all the risks and 
rewards incidental to ownership of the leased item, are capitalised at the 
inception of the lease at the fair value of the leased asset or, if lower, at the 
present value of the minimum lease payments. Any initial direct costs are also 
added to the amount capitalised. Lease payments are apportioned between the 
finance charges and reduction of the lease liability so as to achieve a constant 
rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability. Finance charges are 
charged to profit or loss. Contingent rents, if any, are charged as expenses in 
the periods in which they are incurred.  

 
Leased assets are depreciated over the estimated useful life of the asset. 
However, if there is no reasonable certainty that the Group will obtain ownership 
by the end of the lease term, the asset is depreciated over the shorter of the 
estimated useful life and the lease term. 

 
Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense in profit or loss on a 
straight-line basis over the lease term. The aggregate benefit of incentives 
provided by the lessor is recognised as a reduction of rental expense over the 
lease term on a straight-line basis. 
 

b) As lessor  
 
Leases where the Group retains substantially all the risks and rewards of 
ownership of the asset are classified as operating leases. Initial direct costs 
incurred in negotiating an operating lease are added to the carrying amount of 
the leased asset and recognised over the lease term on the same bases as 
rental income. The accounting policy for rental income is set out in Note 2.25(f). 
Contingent rents are recognised as revenue in the period in which they are 
earned. 

 
2.25 Revenue  

 
Revenue is recognised to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will 
flow to the Group and the revenue can be reliably measured, regardless of when the 
payment is made. Revenue is measured at the fair value of consideration received 
or receivable, taking into account contractually defined terms of payment and 
excluding taxes or duty. The Group assesses its revenue arrangements to determine 
if it is acting as principal or agent. The following specific recognition criteria must 
also be met before revenue is recognised: 
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 

 
2.25 Revenue (continued) 

 
a) Interest income 

 
For all financial assets measured at amortised cost and interest/profit-bearing 
financial assets classified as held-for-trading and available-for-sale, interest 
income for all interest-bearing financial assets are recognised within “interest 
income” in the income statement using the effective interest method. 
 
The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a 
financial asset or a financial liability and of allocating the interest income or 
interest expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate 
that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments or receipts through the 
expected life of the financial instruments or, when appropriate, a shorter period 
to the net carrying amount of the financial asset or financial liability. 
 
Interest on impaired financial assets is recognised using the rate of interest used 
to discount the future cash flows for the purpose of measuring the impairment 
loss. 
 

b) Income from Islamic Banking business  
 
Income from Islamic Banking business is recognised on an accrual basis in 
accordance with the principles of Shariah. 
 

c) Fee and other income 
 
Loan arrangement, management and participation fees are recognised upfront 
upon entering into contractual arrangement.  
 

d) Guarantee fee 
 
Guarantee fee is recognised as income upon issuance of guarantees. 

 
e) Dividend income 

 
Dividend income is recognised when the Group’s right to receive payment is 
established. 
 

f) Rental income  
 
Rental income is accounted for on a straight-line basis over the lease terms. The 
aggregate costs of incentives provided to lessees are recognised as a reduction 
of rental income over the lease term on a straight-line basis.   
 

g) Fund management service fees  
 
Fund management service fees are recognised when services are rendered.   
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 

 
2.25 Revenue (continued) 
 

h) Insurance commissions  
 
Insurance commissions received and receivable are recognised at the 
prescribed rates on gross premiums received. 
 

i) Sale of goods 
 
Revenue from sale of bulks water, Islamic Gold Dinar and Silver Dirham and 
other goods is recognised upon the transfer of significant risk and rewards of 
ownership of the goods to the customer. Revenue is not recognised to the extent 
where there are significant uncertainties regarding recovery of the consideration 
due, associated costs or the possible return of goods. 
 

j) Oil and gas revenue 
 
Revenue from provision of services to the oil and gas industry is recognized 
when services are rendered. 
 

2.26 Taxes  
 

a) Current income tax 
 
Current income tax assets and liabilities for the current and prior periods are 
measured at the amount expected to be recovered from or paid to the taxation 
authorities. The tax rates and tax laws used to compute the amount are those 
that are enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date.  
 
Current income taxes are recognised in profit or loss except to the extent that the 
tax relates to items recognised outside profit or loss, either in other 
comprehensive income or directly in equity. Management periodically evaluates 
positions taken in the tax returns with respect to situations in which applicable 
tax regulations are subject to interpretation and establishes provisions where 
appropriate. 
 

b) Deferred tax 
 
Deferred tax is provided using the liability method on temporary differences at 
the reporting date between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their 
carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes.  
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 

 
2.26 Taxes (continued) 

 
b) Deferred tax (continued) 

 
Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all temporary differences, except: 

 
- where the deferred tax liability arises from the initial recognition of goodwill or 

of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and, 
at the time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable 
profit or loss; and 

 
- in respect of taxable temporary differences associated with investments in 

subsidiaries and associates, where the timing of the reversal of the temporary 
differences can be controlled and it is probable that the temporary differences 
will not reverse in the foreseeable future.  

 
Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences, carry 
forward of unused tax credits and unused tax losses, to the extent that it is 
probable that taxable profit will be available against which the deductible 
temporary differences, and the carry forward of unused tax credits and unused 
tax losses can be utilised except:  

 
- where the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible temporary difference 

arises from the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction that is 
not a business combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither 
the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and  

 
- in respect of deductible temporary differences associated with investments in 

subsidiaries and associates, deferred tax assets are recognised only to the 
extent that it is probable that the temporary differences will reverse in the 
foreseeable future and taxable profit will be available against which the 
temporary differences can be utilised.  

 
The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each reporting date 
and reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit 
will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be utilised. 
Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed at each reporting date and are 
recognised to the extent that it has become probable that future taxable profit will 
allow the deferred tax assets to be recovered. 
 
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected 
to apply in the year when the asset is realised or the liability is settled, based on 
tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the 
reporting date.  
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 

 
2.26 Taxes (continued) 
 

b) Deferred tax (continued) 
 
Deferred tax relating to items recognised outside profit or loss is recognised 
outside profit or loss. Deferred tax items are recognised in correlation to the 
underlying transaction either in other comprehensive income or directly in equity 
and deferred tax arising from a business combination is adjusted against goodwill 
on acquisition.  
 
Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset, if a legally enforceable 
right exists to set off current tax assets against current tax liabilities and the 
deferred taxes relate to the same taxable entity and the same taxation authority. 
 

Tax benefits acquired as part of a business combination, but not satisfying the 
criteria for separate recognition at that date, would be recognised subsequently if 
new information about facts and circumstances changed. The adjustment would 
either be treated as a reduction to goodwill (as long as it does not exceed 
goodwill) if it is incurred during the measurement period or in profit or loss. 

 
c) Sales tax 

 
Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of sales tax 
except:  

 
- Where the sales tax incurred in a purchase of assets or services is not 

recoverable from the taxation authority, in which case the sales tax is 
recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as part of the 
expense item as applicable; and 

 
- Receivables and payables that are stated with the amount of sales tax 

included. 
 
The net amount of sales tax recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation 
authority is included as part of receivables or payables in the statements of 
financial position. 

 
2.27 Share capital and share issuance expenses 
 

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets 
of the Group and the Company after deducting all of its liabilities. Ordinary shares 
are equity instruments. 
 

 Ordinary shares are recorded at the proceeds received, net of directly attributable 
incremental transaction costs. Ordinary shares are classified as equity.  Dividends 
on ordinary shares are recognised in equity in the period in which they are declared. 
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 

 
2.28 Derivative financial instruments 

 
The Company uses and trades derivatives such as interest rate swap to manage its 
exposure to interest rate.  
 
Derivative instruments are initially recognised at fair value, which is normally zero or 
negligible at inception for non-option derivatives and equivalent to the market 
premium paid or received for purchased or written options. The derivatives are 
subsequently re-measured at their fair value. Fair values are obtained from quoted 
market prices in active markets, including recent market transactions and valuation 
techniques that include discounted cash flow models and option pricing models, as 
appropriate. All derivatives are carried as assets when fair value is positive and as 
liabilities when fair value is negative. Changes in the fair value of any derivatives that 
do not qualify for hedge accounting are recognised immediately in the profit or loss. 

 
2.29 Embedded derivatives 

 
Derivatives embedded in other financial instruments are treated as separate 
derivatives and recorded at fair value if their economic characteristics and risks are 
not closely related to those of the host contract and the host contract is not itself 
held-for-trading or designated at fair value through profit or loss. The embedded 
derivatives separated from the host are carried at fair value in the trading portfolio 
with changes in fair value recognised in the profit or loss. 

 
2.30 Contingencies 

 
A contingent liability is: 

 
a) a possible obligation that arises from past events and whose existence will be 

confirmed only by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain 
future events not wholly within the control of the Group; or 
 

b) a present obligation that arises from past events but is not recognised because: 
 

(i) it is not probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits 
will be required to settle the obligation; or  

 
(ii) the amount of the obligation cannot be measured with sufficient reliability. 

 
A contingent asset is a possible asset that arises from past events and whose 
existence will be confirmed only by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more 
uncertain future events not wholly within the control of the Group.  
 
Contingent liabilities and assets are not recognised in the statements of financial 
position of the Group.  
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3. Significant accounting judgements and estimates 
 

The preparation of the Group’s financial statements requires management to make 
judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of revenues, 
expenses, assets and liabilities, and the disclosure of contingent liabilities at the reporting 
date. Uncertainty about these assumptions and estimates could result in outcomes that 
could require a material adjustment to the carrying amount of the asset or liability affected 
in the future periods. 
 
3.1 Judgements made in applying accounting policies 
 

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies, the management has 
made the following judgments, apart from those involving estimations, which have 
the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements: 
 
Control over PT M3 Ketapang Sejahtera 
 
As disclosed in Note 26, the directors consider that the Group has control of PT M3 
Ketapang Sejahtera even though it has less than 50% of the ownership interest in 
the company as it has 100% of the voting rights. The Board of Directors of PT M3 
Ketapang Sejahtera are responsible for directing the relevant activities of the 
Company. Pursuant to the Joint Venture Cum Shareholders’ Agreement dated 5 
October 2012 entered between PT Transamudra Usaha Sejahtera and M3nergy 
Offshore Ltd, a wholly owned subsidiary of the Group, the Group has the right to 
appoint 2 out of 3 of the directors of PT M3 Ketapang Sejahtera and any resolution 
of the Board of Directors shall be passed with at least one of the directors nominated 
by the Group votes in favour of the resolution. 
 
Significant influence over Progressive Insurance Berhad 
 
As disclosed in Note 27, the directors consider that the Group has significant 
influence over Progressive Insurance Berhad even though it is not the registered 
shareholder of Progressive Insurance Berhad as the Group has the power to 
participate in the financial and operating policy decisions of Progressive Insurance 
Berhad via its representatives on the Board of Directors of Progressive Insurance 
Berhad. 

 
Impairment of available-for-sale investments 

 
The Group reviews its financial assets classified as available-for-sale investments at 
each reporting date to assess whether they are impaired. The Group also records 
impairment charges on available-for-sale equity investments when there has been a 
significant or prolonged decline in the fair value below their cost. 
 
The determination of what is “significant” or “prolonged” requires judgment. In 
making this judgement, the Group evaluates, among other factors, historical share 
price movements and the duration and extent to which the fair value of an investment 
is less than its cost. 
 
For the financial year ended 31 December 2013, the amount of impairment loss 
recognised for securities available-for-sale was nil (2012: RM909,000). 
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3. Significant accounting judgements and estimates (continued) 

 
3.2 Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued) 
 

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation 
uncertainty at the reporting date that have a significant risk of causing a material 
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial 
year are discussed below. 

 
a) Impairment losses on loans, advances and financing 

 
The Group reviews its individually significant loans, advances and financing at 
each statement of financial position date to assess whether an impairment loss 
should be recorded in the profit or loss. In particular, judgment by management 
is required in the estimation of the amount and timing of future cash flows when 
determining the impairment loss. In estimating these cash flows, the Group 
makes judgements about the borrower’s or the customer’s financial situation 
and the net realisable value of collateral. These estimates are based on 
assumptions about a number of factors and actual results may differ, result in 
future changes to the allowances. 

 
Loans and advances that have been assessed individually and found not to be 
impaired an all individually insignificant loans and advances are then assessed 
collectively, in groups of assets with similar risk characteristics, to determine 
whether provision should be made due to incurred loss events for which there is 
objective evidence but who effects are not yet evident. The collective 
assessment takes account of data from the loan portfolio (such as credit quality, 
levels of arrears, credit utilisation, loan to collateral ratios etc.), concentration of 
risks and relevant economic data.  

 
b) Impairment of investments in subsidiaries and interest in associates  

 
The Group assesses whether there is any indication that investments in 
subsidiaries and interest in associates may be impaired at each reporting date. 

 
If indicators are present, these assets are subject to impairment review. The 
impairment review comprises a comparison of the carrying amount of the 
investment and the investment’s estimated recoverable amount. 
 
Judgments made by management in the process of applying the Group’s 
accounting policies in respect of investments in subsidiaries and interest in 
associates are as follows: 
 
i) The Group determines whether its investments are impaired following certain 

indications of impairment such as, amongst others, prolonged shortfall 
between market value and carrying amount, significant changes with adverse 
effects on the investment and deteriorating financial performance of the 
investment due to observed changes and fundamentals. 
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3. Significant accounting judgements and estimates (continued) 

 
3.2 Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued) 

 
b) Impairment of investments in subsidiaries and interest in associates 

(continued) 
 

ii) Depending on their nature and the industries in which the investments relate 
to, judgments are made by management to select suitable methods of 
valuation such as, amongst others, discounted cash flow, realisable net asset 
value and sector average price-earning ratio methods. 

 
Once a suitable method of valuation is selected, management makes certain 
assumptions concerning the future to estimate the recoverable amount of the 
investment. These assumptions and other key sources of estimation uncertainty 
at the reporting date, may have a significant risk of causing a material 
adjustment to the carrying amounts of the investments within the next financial 
year. Depending on the specific individual investment, assumptions made by 
management may include, amongst others, assumptions on expected future 
cash flows, revenue growth, discount rate used for purposes of discounting 
future cash flows which incorporates the relevant risks, and expected future 
outcome of certain past events. 

 
Sensitivity to changes in assumptions 
 
Management believes that no reasonably expected possible change in the key 
assumptions described above would cause the carrying amounts of the 
investments to materially exceed their recoverable amounts. 
 

c) Useful life and residual value of vessels 
 

Vessels are depreciated over their estimated useful lives of 20 to 21 years from 
the date of conversion from an oil tanker, which are the expected useful lives for 
similar vessels in the industry. The Group is required to maintain the vessels in 
accordance to American Bureau of Shipping Class Standards and other 
applicable certifications with regards to its operational, structural and 
mechanical integrity. Changes to these factors may impact the economic useful 
lives and the residual values of the vessels, which may consequently impact the 
corresponding depreciation in the future. 
 
The residual value of vessels was based on the market price for scrap steel as 
at the reporting date. 
 
The carrying amount of the Group's vessels at the reporting date is disclosed in 
Note 22. A 5% difference in the expected useful lives of vessels from 
management's estimates would result in approximately 1% (2012: nil) variance 
in the Group's profit for the year. 
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3. Significant accounting judgements and estimates (continued) 
 

3.2 Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued) 
 

d) Exploration and evaluation expenditure 
 

The application of the Group's accounting policy for exploration and evaluation 
expenditure requires judgement to determine whether it is likely that future 
economic benefits are likely, from future either exploitation or sale, or whether 
activities have not reached a stage which permits a reasonable assessment of 
the existence of reserves. The determination of reserves and resources is itself  
an estimation process that requires varying degrees of uncertainty depending on 
how the resources are classified. These estimates directly impact when the 
Group defers exploration and evaluation expenditure. The deferral policy 
requires management to make certain estimates and assumptions as to future 
events and circumstances, in particular, whether an economically viable 
extraction operation can be established. Any such estimates and assumptions 
may change as new information becomes available. If, after expenditure is 
capitalised, information becomes available suggesting that the recovery of the 
expenditure is unlikely, the relevant capitalised amount is written off in profit or 
loss in the period when the new information becomes available. 
 

e) Deferred tax assets 
 

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all unused tax losses to the extent that it 
is probable that taxable profit will be available against which the losses can be 
utilised. Significant management judgement is required to determine the amount 
of deferred tax assets that can be recognised, based on the likely timing and 
level of future taxable profits together with future tax planning strategies. 
 
 

4. Interest income 
   
         Group          Company 

 2013 
RM’000 

 2012 
RM’000 

 2013 
RM’000 

 2012 
RM’000 

        
Loans, advances and 
   financing 

 
227,800 

  
220,836 

  
279,791 

  
224,501 

Money at call, and deposits 
   and placements with 
   financial institutions 

 
 

1,097 

  
 

1,404 

  
 

850 

  
 

1,298 
Other loans and receivables 1,385  1,389  1,385  1,389 
Other interest income 225  302  225  302 
        

 230,507  223,931  282,251  227,490 
 
 

5. Interest expense 
        

Deposits from customers 38,350  42,022  38,696  42,353 
Borrowings 110,163  73,755  107,343  73,755 
        

Total interest expense 148,513  115,777  146,039  116,108 
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6. Other income 
 

         Group          Company 
 2013 

RM’000 
 2012 

RM’000 
 2013 

RM’000 
 2012 

RM’000 
Fee income:        
Commissions 13,097  9,958  11,476  9,477 
Fund management services fees 70  15  -  - 
Other fee income 4,369  4,212  4,369  4,212 
        

 17,536  14,185  15,845  13,689 
        

Income from financial 
 instruments: 

      

Gain arising on securities 
 held-for-trading: 

       

Net gain on disposals 1,968  1,934  1,968  1,934 
Investment income 75  24  75  24 
Gross dividend income 1,487  1,370  1,487  1,370 
Unrealised fair value gain on 
securities held-for-trading 

 
3,969 

  
1,416 

  
3,969 

  
1,416 

        

 7,499  4,744  7,499  4,744 
        

Gain/(loss) arising on securities 
 available-for-sale: 

       

Net loss on disposals -  (1,373)  -  (1,373) 
Gross dividend income 3,026  1,148  -  - 

        

 3,026  (225)  -  (1,373) 

        
Gain arising on securities held-to-
maturity: 

       

Interest income 4,500  -  4,500  - 

        
Net gain on derivative financial 
 instruments 

 
7 

  
336 

  
7 

  
336 

        

Other income:        
Oil and gas revenue 112,081  -  -  - 
Sale of bulk water and services 
 rendered to holding entity, 
 Sabah State Government 

 
 

61,352 

  
 

60,846 

  
 

- 

  
 

- 
Late payment penalty interest 27,114  27,404  -  - 
Rental income 54  54  -  - 
Dividend income from subsidiary -  -  20,000  150,000 
Dividend income from associate -  -  2,947  1,469 
Gain on disposal of property, 
 plant and equipment 

 
101 

  
117 

  
2 

  
65 

Reversal of impairment loss 
 on trade receivable  

 
10,000 

  
40,000 

  
- 

  
- 

Bad debts written back 50  -  50  - 
Others 482  434  11  48 

 211,234  128,855  23,010  151,582 

 243,802  147,895  50,861  168,978 
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7. Other expenses 
 
   
       Group         Company 

 2013 
RM’000 

 2012 
RM’000 

 2013 
RM’000 

 2012 
RM’000 

        
Employee benefits expense         
- Oil and gas 27,161  -  -  - 
- Financial services 11,246  10,848  10,899  10,646 
- Supply and distribution of treated 

water 8,545  8,035  -  - 
Direct cost, administrative and other 
overhead expense:     

 
  

 
 

- Oil and gas 62,219  -  -  - 
- Financial services 6,652  6,110  5,260  4,622 
- Supply and distribution of treated 

water 25,194  23,990  -  - 

 141,017  48,983  16,159  15,268 

        
 
8. Allowance for impairment losses on loans, advances and financing 

     
  Group and Company 
  2013 

RM’000 
 2012 

RM’000 
     
Individual impairment:     
  Charge during the financial year  30,246  76,662 
  Reversal during the financial year  -  (681) 
Collective impairment:     
  Charge during the financial year  16,609  11,631 

  46,855  87,612 

     
 
9. Allowance for impairment losses on other assets 

   
   Group       Company 

 2013 
RM’000 

 2012 
RM’000 

 2013 
RM’000 

 2012 
RM’000 

        
Impairment losses on securities  
 available-for-sale (at cost less  
 impairment loss) 

 
 

- 

  
 

909 

  
 

- 

  
 

909 
Impairment losses on other financial                           

assets 
 

1,998 
  

- 
  

- 
  

- 
Impairment loss on non-financial 

assets 
 

1,589 
  

- 
  

- 
  

- 

 3,587  909  -  909 
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10. Profit before tax 
 

The following items have been included in arriving at profit before tax: 
   

      Group         Company 
 2013 

RM’000 
 2012 

RM’000 
 2013 

RM’000 
 2012 

RM’000 
        

Amortisation of water concession   
rights (Note 25) 

 
4,528 

  
4,455 

  
- 

  
- 

Amortisation of contract development 
costs (Note 25) 

 
1,173 

  
- 

  
- 

  
- 

Auditors’ remuneration:        
- Statutory audit        

- Current year 444  264  110  195 
- (Over)/under provision in 

respect of previous year 
 

(28) 
  

4 
  

(89) 
  

5 
- Other services        

- Current year 600  80  64  10 
- Under provision in respect of 

previous year 
 

10 
  

10 
  

- 
  

- 
Depreciation of investment properties  
   (Note 23) 

 
248 

  
247 

  
26 

  
26 

Depreciation of property, plant and 
   equipment (Note 22) 

 
24,711 

  
1,614 

  
281 

  
282 

Employee benefits expense  
   (Note 11) 

 
46,952 

  
18,883 

  
10,899 

  
10,646 

Impairment loss on trade 
   receivables (Note 29) 

 
820 

  
- 

  
- 

  
- 

Impairment loss on other receivables 1,178  -  -  - 
Impairment loss on exploration and    

evaluation of assets (Note 29) 
 

1,589 
  

- 
  

- 
  

- 
Non- executive directors’ 
   remuneration (Note 12) 

 
916 

  
994 

  
693 

  
722 

Rental of premises payable to:        
- holding entity (Note 37) 483  483  433  433 
- third parties 2,134  151  33  15 
Realised loss on foreign exchange 353  -  -  - 
Rental of equipment 8  9  4  5 
Plant and equipment written off 2  -  -  - 
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11. Employee benefits expense 
   
      Group        Company 

 2013 
RM’000 

 2012 
RM’000 

 2013 
RM’000 

 2012 
RM’000 

        
Wages and salaries 41,062  13,604  7,520  7,290 
EPF and social security  
   contributions 

 
4,667 

  
2,032 

  
1,149 

  
1,123 

Defined benefit obligations 735  685  735  685 
Other benefits and expenses 8,174  2,562  1,495  1,548 

 54,638  18,883  10,899  10,646 
Less: Employee benefit expense          

capitalised to property, plant 
and equipment (Note 22) 

 
 

(6,789) 

  
 

- 

  
 

- 

  
 

- 
         Employee benefit expense 

capitalised to exploration and 
evaluation assets (Note 29) 

 
 

(897) 

  
 

- 

  
 

- 

  
 

- 

 46,952  18,883  10,889  10,646 
 

Included in employee benefits expense of the Group and the Company are executive 
directors’ remuneration amounting to RM2,868,000 (2012: RM2,547,000) and 
RM1,653,000 (2012: RM1,825,000) respectively.  

 
 
12. Directors’ remuneration 
 

The details of remuneration receivable by directors by directors of the Company and its 
subsidiaries during the year are as follows: 
   
      Group        Company 

 2013 
RM’000 

 2012 
RM’000 

 2013 
RM’000 

 2012 
RM’000 

        
Executive:        
   Salaries and other emoluments 2,511  1,572  1,396  953 
   EPF and social security 
     contributions 

 
292 

  
238 

  
192 

  
135 

   Retirement gratuity 65  737  65  737 

 2,868  2,547  1,653  1,825 

Non-executive:        
   Fee 393  436  174  168 
   Other emoluments 523  558  519  554 

 916  994  693  722 

 3,784  3,541  2,346  2,547 
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13. Income tax expense 
 

Major components of income tax expense 
 
The major components of income tax expense for the years ended 31 December 2013 and 
2012 are: 
   
             Group                 Company 

 2013 
RM’000 

 2012 
RM’000 

 2013 
RM’000 

 2012 
RM’000 

Statement of comprehensive     
 income: 

       

Current income tax:        

- Malaysian income tax 38,483  33,498  29,800  10,436 
- (Under)/over provision in respect 

of previous years  
 

5,723 
  

(1,420) 
  

5,718 
  

(1,394) 

 44,206  32,078  35,518  9,042 
Deferred income tax (Note 28):        

- Origination and reversal of   
   temporary differences 

 
2,449 

  
(1,805) 

  
(2,807) 

  
(3,375) 

- Over provision in respect of  
      previous years 

 
(4,799) 

  
(3,357) 

  
(3,722) 

  
(3,357) 

 (2,350)  (5,162)  (6,529)  (6,732) 

Income tax expense recognised in  
   profit or loss 

 
41,856 

  
26,916 

  
28,989 

  
2,310 

        
 
Reconciliation between tax expense and accounting profit 

 
The reconciliation between tax expense and the product of accounting profit multiplied by 
the applicable corporate tax rate for the years ended 31 December 2013 and 2012 are as 
follows: 
   
             Group                 Company 

 2013 
RM’000 

 2012 
RM’000 

 2013 
RM’000 

 2012 
RM’000 

        
Profit before tax 144,017  125,210  124,828  177,347 

        
Tax at Malaysian statutory tax  
   rate of 25% (2012: 25%) 

 
36,004 

  
31,303 

  
31,207 

  
44,337 

Adjustments:        
Non-deductible expenses 10,072  2,223  786  580 
Income not subject to taxation (4,668)  (464)  (5,000)  (37,856) 
Deferred tax assets not  
   recognised during the year 

 
1,474 

  
103 

  
- 

  
- 

Effect of exchange rate  
   translation 

 
278 

  
- 

  
- 

  
- 

 

  



Sabah Development Bank Berhad - 34638-W 
(Incorporated in Malaysia) 
 
 
Notes to the financial statements 
For the financial year ended 31 December 2013  

56 

 
13. Income tax expense (continued) 
 

   
             Group                 Company 

 2013 
RM’000 

 2012 
RM’000 

 2013 
RM’000 

 2012 
RM’000 

 (Over)/under provision in  
   respect of previous year: 

       

- Current tax 5,723  (1,420)  5,718  (1,394) 
- Deferred tax (4,799)  (3,357)  (3,722)  (3,357) 

Share of results of associates (2,228)  (1,472)  -  - 

Income tax expense recognised 
   in profit or loss 

 
41,856 

  
26,916 

  
28,989 

  
2,310 

        
Domestic income tax is calculated at the Malaysian statutory tax rate of 25% (2012: 25%) 
of the estimated assessable profit for the year. 

 
 
14. Earnings per share 
 

Basic earnings per share amounts are calculated by dividing profit for the year, net of tax, 
attributable to owners of the Company by the weighted average number of ordinary shares 
outstanding during the financial year.  
 
The following tables reflect the profit and share data used in the computation of basic 
earnings per share for the years ended 31 December: 

 

      Group 
  

2013 
  

2012 
 RM’000  RM’000 
    
Profit net of tax attributable to owner of the Company 102,162  98,294 

    
 Numbers 

of shares  
’000 

 Numbers of 
shares  

’000 
    

Weighted average number of ordinary shares for basic 
 earnings per share computation 

 
500,055 

  
430,191 
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15. Cash and short-term funds 
 

       Group    Company 
 2013 

RM’000 
 2012 

RM’000 
 2013 

RM’000 
 2012 

RM’000 
        
Cash and bank balances with  
  banks and other financial  
  institutions 

 
 

23,805 

  
 

67,736 

  
 

5,907 

  
 

58,571 
Cash at bank – designated 

accounts 
 

29,353 
  

- 
  

- 
  

- 
Money at call 5,000  5,000  5,000  5,000 

 58,158  72,736  10,907  63,571 

        
Cash at banks and money at call earns interest at rates based on daily bank deposit rates. 
 
The designated accounts are pledged as security for borrowings (Note 31).  
 
For the purpose of the statements of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise the 
following at the reporting date:  
 
       Group    Company 

2013 
RM’000 

2012 
RM’000 

2013 
RM’000 

2012 
RM’000 

        
Cash and bank balances with 
banks and other financial 
institutions 

 
 

23,805 

  
 

67,736 

  
 

5,907 

  
 

58,571 
Money at call 5,000  5,000  5,000  5,000 
Deposits and placements with 
financial institutions maturing 
within one month (Note 16) 

 
 

123,176 

  
 

61,738 

  
 

20,300 

  
 

24,174 
Less: Bank overdrafts (Note 31) (1,231)  -  -  - 

 150,750  134,474  31,207  87,745 
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16. Deposits and placements with financial institutions 
 

       Group    Company 
2013 

RM’000 
2012 

RM’000 
2013 

RM’000 
2012 

RM’000 
        
Financial institutions:        
Deposits and placements 
maturing within one month 

 
123,176 

  
61,738 

  
20,300 

  
24,174 

Deposits and placements 
maturing one month or more 

 
1,060 

  
1,030 

  
1,060 

  
1,030 

Mudharabah placements 22,511  21,714  22,511  21,714 
Deposits and placements pledged 
with financial institutions for 
banking facilities 

 
 

45,014 

  
 

794 

  
 

- 

  
 

- 

 191,761  85,276  43,871  46,918 

        

Deposits and placements are made for varying periods of between one day and one year 
depending on the cash requirements of the Group and the Company, and earns interest at 
the respective short-term deposit and placement rates. 
 

The average effective interest rate of the Group and of the Company is 2.7% (2012: 2.8%) 
and 3.2% (2012: 3.2%) per annum respectively. 

 
 

17. Securities held-for-trading 
 

       Group    Company 
2013 

RM’000 
2012 

RM’000 
2013 

RM’000 
2012 

RM’000 
        

At fair value:        
Shares, warrants and loan stocks,   

quoted in Malaysia 
 

32,253 
  

29,450 
  

32,250 
  

29,450 
Shares, quoted outside Malaysia 5,589  6,104  5,589  6,104 

 37,842  35,554  37,839  35,554 
 
 

18. Securities available-for-sale 
 

       Group    Company 
2013 

RM’000 
2012 

RM’000 
2013 

RM’000 
2012 

RM’000 
        

At fair value:        
Shares, quoted in Malaysia 99,893  98,302  6,191  1,887 
Unit trust, quoted in Malaysia 2,654  2,547  2,654  2,547 
Transferable corporate club  
  membership 

 
200 

  
200 

  
- 

  
- 

        

 102,747  101,049  8,845  4,434 
At cost less Impairment loss:        
Unquoted shares in Malaysia 500  -  -  - 
        

 103,247  101,049  8,845  4,434 
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19. Securities held-to-maturity 
 

      Group and Company 
2013 

RM’000 
2012 

RM’000 
    
Unquoted securities in Malaysia:    
Redeemable cumulative convertible preference shares 64,500  34,000 

 64,500  34,000 

    
The maturity structure of securities held-to-maturity is as follows: 
 

      Group and Company 
2013 

RM’000 
2012 

RM’000 
    
Three years to five years 64,500  34,000 

 64,500  34,000 

    
 
 
20. Loans, advances and financing 
 

                                                            Group          Company 
2013 

RM’000 
2012 

RM’000 
2013 

RM’000 
2012 

RM’000 
       
Revolving credits 676,191  595,431 1,182,355 1,110,418 
Short-term advances 124,080  136,787 129,947  142,453 
Term loans 2,451,007 2,239,953 3,220,185 2,336,561 
Other loans 22,179  21,780 22,179  21,780 
Staff loans 520  613 520  613 

        

 3,273,977 2,994,564 4,555,186 3,611,825 
Unearned income (4)  (6) (4)  (6) 
        

Gross loans, advances 
and financing 

 
3,273,973 

 
2,994,558 

 
4,555,182 

 
3,611,819 

       
Less:       
Allowance for impairment:       

Individual  (325,118) (304,883) (325,118) (304,883) 
Collective  (51,916)  (35,307) (51,916) (35,307) 
        

Net loans, advances and 
financing 

 
2,896,939 

 
2,654,368 

 
4,178,148 

 
3,271,629 
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20. Loans, advances and financing (continued) 
 

Included in loans, advances and financing of the Company are the following outstanding 
amounts due from subsidiaries: 
    
        Company 
    
 2013 

RM’000 
 2012 

RM’000 
    
Revolving credits 506,164  514,987 
Short-term advances 5,867  5,666 
Other loans -  - 
Term loan 769,178  96,608 

    
The weighted average effective interest rate for revolving credits financing granted to the 
subsidiaries as at 31 December 2013 is 6.4% (2012: 6.1%) per annum while the short-term 
advances are interest-free. The revolving credits and short-term advances are unsecured 
and repayable within the next 12 months. 
 
a) Loans, advances and financing analysed by their economic purposes are as follows: 

 
        Group           Company 
 2013 

RM’000 
 2012 

RM’000 
2013 

RM’000 
 2012 

RM’000 
        

Real estate and 
construction 2,400,492 1,862,981 

 
2,400,492 1,863,151 

Manufacturing 271,905  250,565  274,938  253,493 
Finance, insurance and 
business services 20,935  

 
126,682 

 
100,101  

 
205,360 

Agriculture, mining and 
quarrying 338,991  

 
297,864 

 
338,991  

 
297,864 

Education, health and  
others 27,542  

 
196,162 

 
227,414  

 
208,668 

Electricity, gas and water  
supply 96,905  

 
50,723 

 
494,794  

 
477,094 

Wholesale & retail trade,  
restaurants 34  

 
12 

 
34  

 
12 

Transport, storage and 
communication 34,268  

 
39,921 

 
34,268  

 
39,921 

Others 82,901  169,648  684,150  266,256 

Gross loans, advances  
and financing 3,273,973 

 
2,994,558 

 
4,555,182 

 
3,611,819 
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20. Loans, advances and financing (continued) 
 

b) The maturity structures of gross loans, advances and financing are as follows: 
 

        Group           Company 
 2013 

RM’000 
 2012 

RM’000 
2013 

RM’000 
 2012 

RM’000 
        

Maturing within one year 2,002,793 1,782,396  3,284,002 2,399,657 

One year to three years 978,493  834,488  978,493  834,488 

Three years to five years 184,349  210,478  184,349  210,478 

Over five years 108,338  167,196  108,338  167,196 
        

 3,273,973 2,994,558  4,555,182 3,611,819 

        



Sabah Development Bank Berhad - 34638-W 
(Incorporated in Malaysia) 
 
 
Notes to the financial statements 
For the financial year ended 31 December 2013  

62 

 
 
20. Loans, advances and financing (continued) 

 
c) Analysis of gross loans, advances and financing: 

 
 Collectively impaired Individually impaired Total 

 
2013 

RM’000 
2012 

RM’000 
2013 

RM’000 
2012 

RM’000 
2013 

RM’000 
2012 

RM’000 

       

Group       
Loans, advances and financing 2,785,372 2,518,503 488,601 476,055 3,273,973 2,994,558 

Less: allowance for impairment (51,916) (35,307) (325,118) (304,883) (377,034) (340,190) 

 2,733,456 2,483,196 163,483 171,172 2,896,939 2,654,368 

 

Company       

Loans, advances and financing 4,066,581 3,135,764 488,601 476,055 4,555,182 3,611,819 

Less: allowance for impairment (51,916) (35,307) (325,118) (304,883) (377,034) (340,190) 

 4,014,665 3,100,457 163,483 171,172 4,178,148 3,271,629 
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20. Loans, advances and financing (continued) 
 
d) Movements in allowance for impairment of loans, advances and financing are as 

follows: 
 
   Group and Company 
 2013 

RM’000 
 2012 

RM’000 
    
Collective impairment    
At 1 January 35,307  23,676 
Charge for the year 16,609  11,631 
Reversal of impairment losses -  - 

At 31 December 51,916  35,307 

    
Individual impairment    
At 1 January 304,883  228,913 
Charge for  the year 30,246  76,662 
Written off (10,000)  - 
Reversal of impairment losses (11)  (692) 

At 31 December 325,118  304,883 

 
 
21. Derivate financial instruments 
 

Non-hedging derivative:    
Current    
Derivative liability:    

Interest rate collar -  862 

    
In 2007, the Company entered into a zero premium interest rate collar with a notional 
amount of RM100 million, an interest rate cap of 5.35% and an interest rate floor of 4.10% 
to manage interest rate risk. 
 
The contract was not designated as cash flow or fair value hedge. Such derivative did not 
qualify for hedge accounting. 
 
During the financial year, the Group recognised a profit of RM7,000 (2012: profit of 
RM336,000) arising from fair value changes of derivative instrument. The fair value 
changes are mainly attributable to changes in interest rate. The method and assumptions 
applied in determining the fair values of derivatives are disclosed in Note 40. 
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22. Property, plant and equipment 
 

 
 
 
 

 
 

Freehold 
 land 

RM’000 

 
 

Leasehold 
 land 

RM’000 

Leasehold 
improvements 

 and office 
 renovation 

RM’000 

 
 

Motor 
vehicles 
RM’000 

Office 
 equipment 

 and 
 furniture 

RM’000 

 
Plant and 

equipment 
and building 

RM’000 

 
Vessels and 
vessel work-
in-progress 

RM’000 

 
 
 

Total 
RM’000 

Group         
         

Cost:         
At 1 January 2012 - - 2,123 5,711 3,406 15,064 - 26,304 
Additions - - - 226 148 413 - 787 
Disposals/write off - - - (632) (47) - - (679) 
At 31 December 2012 - - 2,123 5,305 3,507 15,477 - 26,412 
Additions - - - 1,393 (427) 2,824 341,086 344,876 
Disposals/write off - - - (1,110) (62) (214) - (1,386) 
Acquisition of subsidiaries 347 4,568 - 1,774 6,973 31,399 1,158,438 1,203,499 
Exchange differences - - - - 68 - 36,992 37,060 
At 31 December 2013 347 4,568 2,123 7,362 10,059 49,486 1,536,516 1,610,461 
        
Accumulated depreciation:         
At 1 January 2012 - - 2,084 3,436 3,154 5,826 - 14,500 
Depreciation charge 
for the year (Note 10) 

 
- 

 
- 

 
16 

 
627 

 
117 

 
854 

 
- 

 
1,614 

Disposals/write off - - - (632) (46) - - (678) 
At 31 December 2012  - - 2,100 3,431 3,225 6,680 - 15,436 
Depreciation charge 
for the year (Note 10) 

 
- 

 
4 

 
16 

 
787 

 
558 

 
2,401 

 
20,945 

 
24,711 

Disposals/write off - - - (1,110) (61) (213) - (1,384) 
Acquisition of subsidiaries - 30 - 1,764 5,147 15,455 616,738 639,134 
Exchange differences - - - - 36 - 3,743 3,779 
At 31 December 2013 - 34 2,116 4,872 8,905 24,323 641,426 681,676 
         
Net carrying amount:         
At 31 December 2012 - - 23 1,874 282 8,797 - 10,976 
         
At 31 December 2013 347 4,534 7 2,490 1,154 25,163 895,090 928,785 
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22. Property, plant and equipment (continued) 
      
 
 

Leasehold  
improvements 

RM’000 

 
 

Motor 
vehicles 
RM’000 

Office 
equipment  

and  
furniture 

RM’000 

 
 

Computer 
equipment 

RM’000 

 
 
 

Total 
RM’000 

      
Company      
      
Cost:      
At 1 January 2012 2,042 1,942 1,427 923 6,334 
Reclassification      
Additions - - 57 27 84 
Disposals/write off - (414) (45) - (459) 

At 31 December 2012  2,042 1,528 1,439 950 5,959 
Additions - 13 20 35 68 
Disposals/write off - (10) (4) (29) (43) 

At 31 December 2013 2,042 1,531 1,455 956 5,984 

      
Accumulated 
 depreciation: 

     

At 1 January 2012 2,041 994 1,398 832 5,265 
Depreciation charge for  
 the year (Note 10) - 218 18 46 282 
Disposals/write off - (414) (45) - (459) 

At 31 December 2012  2,041 798 1,371 878 5,088 
Depreciation charge for  
 the year (Note 10) - 218 25 38 281 
Disposals/write off - (10) (4) (29) (43) 

At 31 December 2013 2,041 1,006 1,392 887 5,326 

      
Net carrying amount:      
At 31 December 2012 1 730 68 72 871 

      
At 31 December 2013 1 525 63 69 658 

      
Included in vessel work-in-progress costs incurred of the Group during the financial year is 
employee benefits expense amounting to RM6,789,000 (2012: nil). 

 
a) Capitalisation of borrowing costs 

 
The Group's vessel work-in-progress includes borrowing costs arising from bank loan 
specifically for the purpose of the conversion of the vessel into a floating, production, 
storage and offloading vessel. During the financial year, the borrowing costs capitalised 
as cost of the vessel work-in-progress amounted to RM11,196,000 (2012: nil). 
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22. Property, plant and equipment (continued) 
 

b) Assets held under finance leases 
During the financial year, the Group acquired motor vehicles with an aggregate cost of 
RM737,000 (2012: nil) by means of finance leases. 
 
The net carrying amount of assets held under finance leases at the reporting date was 
RM903,000 (2012: nil). 
 
Leased assets are pledged as security for the related finance lease liabilities (Note 31). 
 

c) The cash outflow on acquisition of plant and equipment of the Group and of the 
Company amounted to RM344,140,000 (2012: RM787,000) and RM68,000 (2012: 
RM84,000) respectively. 
 

d) Asset held under trust 
Freehold land of the Group amounting to RM347,000 (2012: nil) is registered in the 
name of a company in which a director of a subsidiary has interests, which is holding 
the property in trust for the subsidiary. 
 

e) Assets pledged as security 
In addition to assets held under finance leases and assets held in trust, the Group's 
property, vessels and vessel work-in-progress with net carrying amount of 
RM895,090,000 are mortgaged to secure the Group's borrowings (Note 31). 
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23. Investment properties 
 
  

Freehold 
land 

RM’000 

 Long term 
leasehold 

land 
RM’000 

  
 

Total  
RM’000 

G      
Group      
      
At cost      
At 1 January 2012 5,927  15,397  21,324 
Addition -  2,929  2,929 
      

At 31 December 2012 and 
 1 January 2013 

 
5,927 

  
18,326 

  
24,253 

Addition  -  -  - 
      

At 31 December 2013 5,927  18,326  24,253 

      
Accumulated depreciation and 
 impairment 

     

At 1 January 2012 -  1,031  1,031 
Depreciation for the year   247  247 
      

At 31 December 2012 and 
 1 January 2013 

 
- 

  
1,278 

  
1,278 

Depreciation for the year -  248  248 
      

At 31 December 2013 -  1,526  1,526 

      
Net carrying amount      
At 31 December 2012 5,927  17,048  22,975 

      
At 31 December 2013 5,927  16,800  22,727 
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23. Investment properties (continued) 
 
   Long term 

leasehold 
land 

RM’000 

  
 

Total  
RM’000 

G      
Company      
      
At cost      
      
At 1 January 2012 and 31 December 2012/ 
 1 January 2013 and 31 December 2013 

   
2,050 

  
2,050 

      
Accumulated depreciation      
At 1 January 2012   131  131 
Depreciation for the year   26  26 
      

At 31 December 2012 and 
 1 January 2013 

   
157 

  
157 

Depreciation for the year   26  26 
      

At 31 December 2013   183  183 

      
Net carrying amount      
At 31 December 2012   1,893  1,893 

      
At 31 December 2013   1,867  1,867 

      
These mainly represent properties acquired by the Group at public auctions conducted in 
connection with foreclosure proceedings initiated by the Company in its loan recovery 
exercise. The Group intends to dispose of these properties in due course. 
 
Seven parcels of freehold land with a total carrying amount of RM5,927,000 (2012: 
RM5,927,000) are registered in the name of a director of the Group and a third party who 
are holding them in trust for the Group. 
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24. Properties held-for-sale 
 

             Group                 Company 
 2013 

RM’000 
2012 

RM’000 
 2013 

RM’000 
 2012 

RM’000 
        

Long-term leasehold land 50,998  50,998  50,998  50,998 
        

The Company has entered into a Sale and Purchase Agreement with a purchaser to 
dispose of a parcel of long term leasehold land of the Company for a consideration of 
RM55,000,000. The Company would deliver the possession of the said land upon full 
settlement of the consideration. As at 31 December 2013, the purchaser has paid amounts 
totaling RM50,000000 (2012: RM47,000,000).The balance unpaid sum amounting to 
RM5,000,000 (2012: RM8,000,000), which bears interest at the average fixed deposit rates 
of three licensed banks for 12 months fixed deposit placement, is repayable by 2014. 

 
 

25. Intangible assets 
 

 Goodwill 

Water 
concession 

rights 

Contract 
development 

costs Total 
 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 

     
Group     

     

Cost:     
At 1 January 2012 - 214,846 - 214,846 
Additions - 1,070 - 1,070 
     

At 31 December 2012 and  
1 January 2013 

 
- 215,916 - 215,916 

Acquisition of subsidiaries 50,430 - 31,309 81,739 
Additions - 418 - 418 
Exchange differences - - 1,896 1,896 
  

   

At 31 December 2013 50,430 216,334 33,205 299,969 

    

     

Accumulated amortisation:     
At 1 January 2012 - 121,304 - 121,304 
Charge for the year - 4,455 - 4,455 
  

   

At 31 December 2012 and  
1 January 2013 

 
- 125,759 - 125,759 

Acquisition of subsidiaries - - 12,005 12,005 
Charge for the year - 4,528 1,173 5,701 
Exchange differences - - 798 798 

 
 

   

At 31 December 2013 - 130,287 13,976 144,263 

     

Net carrying amount:     
At 31 December 2012 - 90,157 - 90,157 

     

At 31 December 2013 50,430 86,047 19,229 155,706 
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25. Intangible assets (continued) 
 

Goodwill 
 
Goodwill arising from business combination has been allocated to oil and gas unit for 
impairment testing. The recoverable amount of the cash generating unit has been 
determined based on value in use calculations using cash flows projections from financial 
budgets approved by the management. 

 
Water concession rights 
 
Water concession rights are in respect of the service concession arrangement entered by a 
subsidiary, Jetama Sdn. Bhd., with the State Government of Sabah. 

 
The subsidiary has been awarded a Concession for a period of 20 years from 5 June 1993. 
This Concession entails the operation, maintenance and management of the existing water 
production facilities owned by the State Government of Sabah and the construction and 
subsequently the operation, maintenance and management of a dam, new water treatment 
facilities, transmission facilities and reservoirs in return for an exclusive concession to 
supply treated water to the State Government of Sabah within the designated Concession 
Area. 
 
At the end of the Concession period, the subsidiary’s rights over the plant and equipment 
installed and constructed will be relinquished and returned to the State Government of 
Sabah at nominal value. 
 
The concession period has been extended for a further twenty years from the existing 
concession that ends on 4 June 2013. 
 
Contract development costs 
 
Contract development costs are specific identifiable costs incurred in securing a contract 
for vessel, which generates future economic benefits. These costs are amortised over the 
period of the contract. 
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26. Investments in subsidiaries 
   

              Company 
        
     2013 

RM’000 
 2012 

RM’000 
     

Unquoted shares – at costs  4,438  4,438 
Discounts on loans to a subsidiary  7,074  7,074 
  11,512  11,512 

 

Name  

Country of 
incorporation/ 
principal place 
of business Principal activities 

Proportion (%) of  
ownership interest# 

Held by the 
Group 

Held by non-
controlling 

interests  
   2013 2012 2013 2012 
Held by the 
Company 

      

       

Sedia Usaha Sdn. 
Bhd.* 

Malaysia Investment and 
  property holding 

100 100 - - 

       

Sabah Development 
Nominees 
(Tempatan) Sdn. 
Bhd.* 

Malaysia Nominee services 
  and insurance 
  agency 

100 100 - - 

       

SDB Asset 
Management Sdn. 
Bhd.* 

Malaysia Management fund 
  services 

100 100 - - 

       

Sabah Gold Traders 
Sdn. Bhd.* 

Malaysia Trading of gold dinar 
  and silver dirham 

80 80 20 20 

       

Ekuiti Yakinjaya Sdn. 
Bhd.* 

Malaysia Investment holding 100 100 - - 

       

Held through Sedia 
Usaha Sdn. Bhd. 

    - - 

       
Kota Kinabalu Water 
Sdn. Bhd.* 

Malaysia Investment holding 100 100 - - 

       

Held through Kota 
Kinabalu Water 
Sdn. Bhd. 

      

       

Corporate Dynamics 
Sdn. Bhd.* 

Malaysia Operation and 
  maintenance of 
  water treatment 
  facilities 

100 100 - - 

       

Jetama Sdn. Bhd.* Malaysia Concessionaire to 
  supply treated water 
  to the Sabah State 
  Government 

100 100 - - 
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26. Investments in subsidiaries (continued) 
 

Name  

Country of 
incorporation/ 
principal place 
of business Principal activities 

Proportion (%) of  
ownership interest# 

Held by the 
Group 

Held by non-
controlling 

interests  
   2013 2012 2013 2012 
       
Held through 
Ekuiti Yakinjaya 
Sdn. Bhd.  

      

       
Adamus Avenue 
Sdn. Bhd.* 

Malaysia  Investment holding 100 - - - 

       
Held through 
Adamus Avenue 
Sdn. Bhd. 

      

       
M3nergy Berhad* Malaysia  Investment holding 

and provision of 
management services 
to its subsidiaries 

100 - - - 

       
Held through 
M3nergy Berhad 

      

       
M3nergy FPSO 
Perintis Sdn. 
Bhd.* 

Malaysia  Provision of floating 
production systems 
as well as being a 
service provider for 
operations and 
maintenance of 
offshore facilities in 
the oil and gas 
industry 

100 - - - 

       
M3nergy JDA Sdn. 
Bhd.* 

Malaysia Provision of floating, 
storage and 
offloading system as 
well as being a 
service provider for 
operations and 
maintenance of 
offshore facilities in 
the oil and gas 
industry 

100 - - - 
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26. Investments in subsidiaries (continued) 
 

Name  

Country of 
incorporation/ 
principal place 
of business Principal activities 

Proportion (%) of  
ownership interest# 

Held by the 
Group 

Held by non-
controlling 

interests  
   2013 2012 2013 2012 
       
Held through 
M3nergy Berhad 
(continued) 

      

       
M3nergy Labuan 
Ltd.* 

Malaysia Asset leasing 100 - - - 

       
Trenggo Minerals 
Sdn. Bhd.* 

Malaysia Processing and trading 
of barite ore and 
barite powder 

100 - - - 

       
M3nergy Gamma 
Sdn. Bhd.* 

Malaysia Exploration, 
development, 
production, operation 
and maintenance of 
oil and gas fields 

100 - - - 

       
Trenergy 
Investment (L) 
Bhd.^ 

Malaysia Dormant 100 - - - 

       
M3nergy 
Resources Sdn. 
Bhd.* 

Malaysia Provision of 
engineering, 
procurement, 
construction, and 
commissioning 
services for the 
power, oil and gas 
sector 

100 - - - 

       
M3nergy Marine 
Sdn. Bhd.* 

Malaysia Ship operations and 
support services 
mainly for the oil and 
gas sector 

100 - - - 

       
M3nergy 
Nusantara Sdn. 
Bhd.* 

Malaysia Dormant 100 - - - 

       
M3nergy Melewar 
Sdn. Bhd.* 

Malaysia Dormant 100 - - - 
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26. Investments in subsidiaries (continued) 
 

Name  

Country of 
incorporation/ 
principal place 
of business Principal activities 

Proportion (%) of  
ownership interest# 

Held by the 
Group 

Held by non-
controlling 

interests  
   2013 2012 2013 2012 
       
Held through 
M3nergy Berhad 
(continued) 

      

       
M3nergy Beta 
Sdn. Bhd.* 

Malaysia Dormant 100 - - - 

       
M3nergy Delta 
Sdn. Bhd.* 

Malaysia Dormant 100 - - - 

       
M3nergy Offshore 
Ltd* 

Cayman Islands Exploration, 
development, 
operation and 
maintenance of oil 
and gas field and the 
provision of 
engineering, 
fabrication, 
construction, 
installation, 
commissioning, 
project management, 
operation and 
management services 
for the entire 
spectrum of power, oil 
and gas projects 

100 - - - 

       
M3nergy Infra 
Ltd.^ 

Brunei 
Darussalam 

Dormant 100 - - - 

       
M3nergy 
Petroleum Ltd.^ 

Cayman Islands Dormant 100 - - - 

       
M3nergy 
International 
Limited^ 

Cayman Islands Provision of 
management services 

100 - - - 
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26. Investments in subsidiaries (continued) 
 

Name  

Country of 
incorporation/ 
principal place 
of business Principal activities 

Proportion (%) of  
ownership interest# 

Held by the 
Group 

Held by non-
controlling 

interests  
   2013 2012 2013 2012 
       
Held through 
M3nergy Berhad 
(continued) 

      

       
M3nergy India 
Private Limited^ 

India Oil and gas exploration 
and production 
activities, provision of 
floating production 
and storage facilities, 
engineering, 
procurement and 
construction services 
and operation and 
maintenance services 
in the oil and gas 
industry 

100 - - - 

       
Maveric Ltd.^ Republic of 

Singapore 
Dissolved on 22 April 
2013 

- - - - 

       
Held through 
M3nergy 
Offshore Ltd. 

      

       
PT M3 Ketapang 
Sejahtera@ 

Indonesia Intended activity is the 
provision of floating 
production systems 
as well as being a 
service provider for 
operations and 
maintenance of 
offshore facilities in 
the oil and gas 
industry 

49 - 51 - 

 
^ Audited by a firm other than Ernst and Young. 
* Audited by Ernst & Young, Malaysia. 
@ Audited by member firm of Ernst & Young Global in Indonesia. 
# Equals to the proportion of voting rights except for PT M3 Ketapang Sejahtera. 
 
The non-controlling interests in respect of the subsidiaries of the Group are not material to 
the Group.  
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26. Investments in subsidiaries (continued) 
 

Acquisition of subsidiaries 
 
On 22 March 2013, a subsidiary of the Company, Ekuiti Yakinjaya Sdn. Bhd. acquired 
100% equity interest in Adamus Avenue Sdn. Bhd.. Upon the acquisition, Adamus Avenue 
Sdn. Bhd. and its subsidiaries became subsidiaries of the Group. Adamus Avenue Sdn. 
Bhd. is a privately limited liability company, incorporated and domiciled in Malaysia. 

 
Adamus Avenue Sdn. Bhd. group of companies (“Adamus Group”) is principally involved in 
the provision of floating oil and gas facility solutions and services, and exploration and 
production activities in the upstream oil and gas sector.  

 
The fair values of the identifiable assets and liabilities of Adamus Group as at the date of 
acquisition were: 
 

 
 Fair value 
 RM’000 
  

Property, plant and equipment 564,365 
Exploration and evaluation assets - 
Intangible assets 19,304 
Investment securities 500 
Inventories 3,399 
Trade and other receivables 88,053 
Other deposits 39,656 
Other current asset 4,618 
Investment securities 3 
Tax recoverable 35 
Cash and cash equivalents 9,606 

 729,539 

  
Loan and borrowings (529,546) 
Trade and other payables (228,946) 
Income tax payable (94) 
Deferred tax liabilities (18,287) 

 (776,873) 

Net identifiable liabilities (47,334) 

  
 

Total cost of business combination 
 
 The total cost of the business combination is as follows: 
 

 RM’000 
  

Cash paid 3,096 
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26. Investments in subsidiaries (continued) 

 
The effect of the acquisition on cash flows is as follows: 

 
 RM’000 
  

Total cost of the business combination settled in cash 3,096 
Less: Cash and cash equivalents of subsidiaries acquired (9,606) 

Net cash inflow on acquisition (6,510) 

  
 
Goodwill arising on acquisition 

 
 RM’000 
  

Fair value of net identifiable liabilities  (47,334) 
Goodwill on acquisition (note 25) 50,430 

Cost of business combination 3,096 

  
In connection with the acquisition of Adamus Avenue Sdn. Bhd., Ekuiti Yakinjaya Sdn. 
Bhd. entered into a Share Option Agreement with the vendors and Adamus Avenue Sdn. 
Bhd. on 22 March 2013 whereby Ekuiti Yakinjaya Sdn. Bhd. granted to the vendors an 
irrevocable option entitling the vendors to jointly subscribe for a certain number of ordinary 
shares in Adamus Avenue Sdn. Bhd. calculated and determined as set out in the Share 
Option Agreement during a specified period and subject to the strict compliance of certain 
conditions as set out in the Share Option Agreement. The period specified is from 1 May 
2015 to 30 October 2015, or the date which is 3 months prior to the first submission of the 
application for listing of the shares in a company which the subsidiary intends to make as a 
vehicle for public listing to the relevant authorities, whichever is the later. 
 
 

27. Investments in associates 
    

                                                               Group Company 
2013 

RM’000 
2012 

RM’000 
2013 

RM’000 
2012 

RM’000 
        
Unquoted shares, at costs 39,552 39,552 39,552 39,552 
Share of post-acquisition reserves 36,561  30,399  -  - 
Less: Accumulated impairment losses -  -  (900)  (900) 

 76,113 69,951 38,652 38,652 

        
  



Sabah Development Bank Berhad - 34638-W 
(Incorporated in Malaysia) 
 
 
Notes to the financial statements 
For the financial year ended 31 December 2013  

78 

 
 
27. Investments in associates (continued) 

 

a) Details of the Group’s associate are as follows: 
 

Name 

Country of 
incorporation/ 
principal 
place of 
business Principal activities 

% of 
ownership 

interest held 
by the Group 

Accounting 
model 
applied 

   2013# 2012#  
      
Held by the 
Company 

     

Asal Baru Sdn. 
Bhd.^ 

Malaysia Property 
management and 
related services 

33.33 33.33 Equity 
method 

      

Held by the 
State 
Government 
of Sabah 

     

Progressive 
Insurance 
Berhad* 

Malaysia Underwriting of all 
classes of general 
insurance 
business 

38.65 38.65 Equity 
method 

      

^ Audited by a firm other than Ernst & Young 
* Audited by Ernst & Young, Malaysia. 
# Equals to the proportion of voting rights held. 
 

These associates have the same reporting period as the Group. 
 

In 2001, the Company had made payment of RM38,652,080 to the State Government 
of Sabah for the investment in 38,652,080 ordinary shares of Progressive Insurance 
Berhad. The State Government of Sabah invested on the Company’s behalf in 38.65% 
equity interest in Progressive Insurance Berhad and became the registered 
shareholder of 38,652,080 ordinary shares of Progressive Insurance Berhad.   

 

Since 2001, the State Government of Sabah has made payments to the Company for 
dividends received from Progressive Insurance Berhad (as the registered shareholder) 
in respect of the 38,652,080 ordinary shares and the Company has nominated several 
representatives to the Board of Directors of Progressive Insurance Berhad. As such, 
the directors are of the opinion that the Company has significant influence over 
Progressive Insurance Berhad with the power to participate in the financial and 
operating policy decisions of Progressive Insurance Berhad since the investment in 
2001.  
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27. Investments in associates (continued) 
 

b) Summarised financial information in respect of the Group’s material associate is set 
out below. The summarised financial information represents the amounts in the 
adjusted MFRS financial statements of the associate and not the Group’s share of 
those amounts.  
 

(i) Summarised statements of financial position 
 

 Progressive Insurance 
Berhad 

 2013 2012 
 RM’000 RM’000 
   

Total assets 538,246 500,129 

Total liabilities 339,185 319,152 

Net assets 199,061 180,977 

 

(ii) Summarised statements of comprehensive income 
 

 Progressive Insurance 
Berhad 

 2013 2012 
 RM’000 RM’000 
   

Revenue 188,884 172,680 
Profit before tax  22,727 19,335 
Profit for the year  25,194 15,235 
Other comprehensive income  (1,395) (42) 
Total comprehensive income 23,799 15,193 
Dividend received from the associates during the year  2,210 1,102 

 

(iii)Reconciliation of the summarised financial information presented above to the 
carrying amount of the Group’s interest in associates 

 

 Progressive Insurance 
Berhad 

 2013 2012 
 RM’000 RM’000 
   

Net assets at 1 January  180,977 168,634 
Profit for the year 25,194 15,235 
Other comprehensive income  (1,395) (42) 
Dividends paid  (5,719) (2,850) 
Net creation of units in wholesale unit trust funds 4 - 

Net assets at 31 December  199,061 180,977 
Less: Non-controlling interests of Progressive 

Insurance Berhad 
 

(2,143) 
 

- 

 196,918 180,977 
Interest in associates 38.65% 38.65% 
Goodwill - - 

Carrying value of Group’s interest in associates 76,113 69,951 
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27. Investments in associates (continued) 
 
c) Unrecognised share of losses in an associate 

 
 2013 2012 
 RM’000 RM’000 
   
The unrecognised share of profit/(loss) in an associate 
for the year  

 
97 

 
(408) 

Cumulative share of loss in an associate (900) (997) 
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28. Deferred tax 
 

Deferred income tax as at 31 December relates to the following: 
 
 
 
 

 
As at  

1 January 
2012 

RM’000 

 
Recognised 

in profit or 
loss 

RM’000 

 
 

Recognised 
in equity 

RM’000 

As at 
31 

December 
2012 

RM’000 
 

 
Acquisition 

of 
subsidiaries 

RM’000 

 
Recognised 

in profit or 
loss 

RM’000 

 
 

Recognised 
in equity 

RM’000 

 
As at 31 

December 
2013 

RM’000 

Group         
Deferred tax liabilities:         
Intangible (19,643) 944 - (18,699) - 962 - (17,737) 
Property, plant and equipment (1,953) (14) - (1,967) (72,454) 4,416 - (70,005) 

 (21,596) 930 - (20,666) (72,454) 5,378 - (87,742) 

Deferred tax assets:         
Securities held-for-trading 991 (186) - 805 - (2,814) - (2,009) 
Securities available-for-sale 3,489 2,392 (438) 5,443 - - 13 5,456 
Securities held-to-maturity - - - - - (1,125) - (1,125) 
Loans, advances and financing 5,919 3,472 - 9,391 - 10,695 - 20,086 
Derivative financial instruments 478 (478) - - - - - - 
Other receivables 22,750 (538) - 22,212 10 (2,812) - 19,410 
Property, plant and equipment 6 (26) - (20) - 9 - (11) 
Other liabilities 627 (399) - 228 - 87 - 315 
Defined benefit obligations 1,641 (5) - 1,636 - (74) - 1,562 
Unabsorbed capital allowances - - - - 54,157 (6,994) - 47,163 

 35,901 4,232 (438) 39,695 54,167 (3,028) 13 90,847 

 14,305 5,162 (438) 19,029 (18,287) 2,350 13 3,105 
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28. Deferred tax (continued) 
 

        
 
 
 

 
As at 

1 January 
2012 

RM’000 

 
Recognised 

in profit or 
loss 

RM’000 

 
 

Recognised 
in equity 

RM’000 

As at 
31 

December 
2012 

RM’000 

 
Recognised 

in profit or 
loss 

RM’000 

 
 

Recognised 
in equity 

RM’000 

As at 
31 

December 
2013 

RM’000 
        
Company        
Deferred tax assets:        
Securities held-for-trading 991 (186) - 805 (2,814) - (2,009) 
Securities available-for-sale 3,489 2,392 (438) 5,443 - 13 5,456 
Securities held-to-maturity - - - - (1,125) - (1,125) 
Loans, advances and financing 5,919 3,472 - 9,391 10,695 - 20,086 
Derivative financial instruments 478 (478) - - - - - 
Other assets - 1,962 - 1,962 (248) - 1,714 
Property, plant and equipment 6 (26) - (20) 9 - (11) 
Other liabilities 627 (399) - 228 87 - 315 
Defined benefit obligations 1,641 (5) - 1,636 (74) - 1,562 
        

 13,151 6,732 (438) 19,445 6,530 13 25,988 
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28. Deferred tax (continued) 
 

Presented after appropriate offsetting as follows: 
   
         Group           Company 

 2013 
RM’000 

2012 
RM’000 

2013 
RM’000 

2012 
RM’000 

        
Deferred tax assets 27,826  20,970  25,988  19,445 
Deferred tax liabilities (24,721)  (1,941)  -  - 
        

 3,105  19,029  25,988  19,445 

        
Unrecognised temporary differences 
At the reporting date, the Group has unutilised tax losses and unabsorbed capital 
allowances that are available for offset against future taxable profits of the companies in 
which the losses arose, for which no deferred tax assets are recognised due to uncertainty 
of its recoverability.  
 
The availability of unused tax losses and unabsorbed capital allowances for offsetting 
against future taxable profits of the respective subsidiaries are subject to no substantial 
changes in shareholdings of those subsidiaries under the Income Tax Act, 1967 and 
guidelines issued by the tax authority. 
 
         Group           Company 

 2013 
RM’000 

2012 
RM’000 

2013 
RM’000 

2012 
RM’000 

        
Unutilised tax losses 22,566  2,612  -  - 
Unabsorbed capital allowances 11,351  27  -  - 
Unutilised reinvestment 
allowances 

 
9,042 

  
- 

  
- 

  
- 

Other temporary differences 2,906  (23)  -  - 
        

 45,865  2,616  -  - 
 25%  25%  -  - 
        

 11,466  654  -  - 
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29. Other assets 
 

  Group  Company 
 Note 2013 

RM’000 
2012 

RM’000 
 2013 

RM’000 
2012 

RM’000 
         

Loans and receivables:         
- Trade receivables (a) 490,904  525,459  -  - 
- Amount receivable from the 

State Government of 
Sabah  

 
 

124,316 

  
 

107,365 

  
 

- 

  
 

- 
- Interest receivable  1,181  1,866  1,116  1,850 
- Other receivables  4,877  2,686  1  1 
- Amount reimbursable from 

time charterer  
 

48,263 
  

- 
  

- 
  

- 
- Dividends receivable  3,312  1,469  3,312  1,469 
- Deposits  1,699  603  174  174 
- Amount receivable from 

Karamunsing Hotel Sdn. 
Bhd.  

 
 

49,378 

  
 

49,678 

  
 

- 

  
 

- 
- Redeemable convertible 

secured loan stocks and 
redeemable secured loan 
stocks (c) 

 
 
 

25,802 

  
 
 

24,810 

  
 
 

25,802 

  
 
 

24,810 
Amounts due from 
subsidiaries (d) 

 
- 

 
- 508,192  488,192 

         

  749,732  713,936 538,597  516,496 
Inventories (e) 2,924  1,644  -  - 
Prepaid operating expenses  7,623  1,281  636  635 
Other investment (f) 5,402  5,402  -  - 
Income tax refundable  10,333  11,076  4,503  11,043 
Exploration and evaluation 
assets (g) 

 
- 

 
-  -  - 

  776,014  733,339  543,736  528,174 

 

a) Trade receivables  
 

 Group 
 2013 

RM’000 
 2012 

RM’000 
    

Trade receivables 565,656  606,459 
Less: Allowance for impairment (74,752)  (81,000) 

 490,904  525,459 

 

At the reporting date, included in the Group’s trade receivables is an amount due from 
the State Government of Sabah for the purchase of bulk water amounting to 
RM480,347,000 (2012: RM525,168,000), which bears interest at 1.5% above the 
average of the base lending rate of CIMB Bank Berhad and Malayan Banking Berhad 
calculated on a daily basis.  

 

Other trade receivables are generally on 30 to 90 day terms (2012: 30 to 90 day 
terms). 
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29. Other assets (continued) 

 
a) Trade receivables (continued) 
 

Trade receivables are recognised at their original invoice amounts which represent 
their fair values on initial recognition. 

 
Ageing analysis of trade receivables 
The ageing analysis of the Group’s trade receivables is as follows:  

 
             Group 
 2013 

RM000 
 2012 

RM000 
    

Neither past due nor impaired  15,389  67,861 

1 to 30 days past due not impaired 7,480  6 
31 to 60 days past due not impaired -  2 
61 to 90 days past due not impaired  705  2 
More than 91 days past due not impaired 358,480  358,738 

 366,665  358,748 
Impaired 183,602  179,850 

 565,656  606,459 

Receivables that are neither past due nor impaired  
Trade receivables that are neither past due nor impaired are creditworthy debtors with 
good payment records with the Group.  
 
None of the Group’s trade receivables that are neither past due nor impaired have 
been renegotiated during the financial year. 

 
Receivables that are past due but not impaired 
The Group has trade receivables amounting to RM366,665,000 (2012: 
RM358,748,000) that are past due at the reporting date but not impaired.  
 
At the reporting date, the receivables that are past due but not impaired are unsecured 
in nature. 

 
Receivables that are impaired 
The Group’s and the Company’s trade receivables that are impaired at the reporting 
date and the movement of the allowance accounts used to record the impairment are 
as follows: 

 

 
2013 

RM’000 

 2012 
RM’000 

Group    
 
Trade receivables - nominal amounts 

 
183,602 

  
179,850 

Less: Allowances for impairment (74,752)  (81,000) 
 

   

 108,850  98,850 
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29. Other assets (continued) 
 

a) Trade receivables (continued) 
 

Movement in the allowance accounts: 
 

          Group 
 2013 

RM’000 
 2012 

RM’000 
    

At 1 January 81,000  121,000 
Acquisition of subsidiaries 2,932  - 
Charge for the year 
Reversal of impairment loss 

820 
(10,000) 

 - 
(40,000) 

At 31 December 74,752  81,000 

    

Trade receivables that are individually determined to be impaired at the reporting date 
relate to debtors that are late on payments. 

 

b) Other receivables 
 

Movement in the allowance accounts: 
 

          Group 
 2013 

RM’000 
 2012 

RM’000 
    

At 1 January -  - 
Acquisition of subsidiaries 6,907  - 
Charge for the year 1,178  - 

At 31 December 8,085  - 

    
c) Redeemable convertible secured loan stocks and redeemable secured loan 

stocks 
 

 Group and Company 
 2013 

RM’000 
 2012 

RM’000 
    

Nominal amounts 32,659  32,659 
Cumulative interest income recognised in profit or loss 4,136  3,144 
Less: Allowance for impairment (10,993)  (10,993) 
 25,802  24,810 

    
Movement in the allowance account: 

 
  Group and Company 
 2013 

RM’000 
2012 

RM’000 
     
At 1 January  10,993  10,993 
Charge for the year  -  - 
At 31 December  10,993  10,993 
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29. Other assets (continued) 
 

d) Amounts due from subsidiaries 
 

These amounts are unsecured, non-interest bearing and are repayable upon demand. 
 

e) Inventories 
 

         Group 
 2013 

RM’000 
 2012 

RM’000 
    

Cost    
Finished goods 947  - 
Raw materials 59  - 
Chemicals 789  898 
Spare parts 157  140 
Islamic Gold Dinar 5  5 

 1,957  1,043 
Net realisable value    
Consumable stores 313  - 
Spare parts 654  601 

 2,924  1,644 

    
 
f) Other investment 
 

This represents the investment in Karamunsing Hotel Sdn. Bhd.. 
 
g) Exploration and evaluation assets 

 
         Group 
 2013  2012 
 RM’000  RM’000 

    
Cost    
At  1 January  -  - 
Acquisition of subsidiaries 35,927  - 
Additions 1,589  - 
Exchange differences 982  - 

At 31 December  38,498  - 

    
Accumulated impairment    
At 1 January -  - 
Acquisition of subsidiaries 35,927  - 
Charge for the year 1,589  - 
Exchange differences 982  - 

At 31 December  38,498  - 

    
 

This represents exploration and evaluation expenditure incurred for the production 
sharing contract obtained on area located at Ujung Kulon, Indonesia. 
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29. Other assets (continued) 

 
g) Exploration and evaluation assets (continued) 
 

Included in exploration and evaluation assets incurred during the financial year is: 
 

  Group  
 2013 

RM’000 
2012 

RM’000 
     
Employee benefits expense (Note 11)  897  - 

     
 
30. Deposits from customers 

   
 Group Company 

 2013 
RM’000 

 2012 
RM’000 

 2013 
RM’000 

 2012 
RM’000 

        
Fixed deposits 804,733  1,009,374 814,937 1,019,624 

        
The maturity structure of fixed deposits are as follows: 
   
 Group Company 

 2013 
RM’000 

 2012 
RM’000 

 2013 
RM’000 

 2012 
RM’000 

        
One year or less 801,906  459,374  812,110  469,624 
More than one year 2,827  550,000  2,827  550,000 

 804,733  1,009,374  814,937 1,019,624 

        
The deposits are sourced from the following types of customers: 
   
 Group Company 

 2013 
RM’000 

 2012 
RM’000 

 2013 
RM’000 

 2012 
RM’000 

        
State Government of Sabah  724,365  930,018  724,365  930,018 
Government-owned 
 enterprises 

 
61,261 

  
59,527 

  
61,261 

  
59,527 

Statutory authorities 12,725  18,512  12,725  18,512 
Subsidiaries -  -  10,204  10,250 
Associate 6,382  1,317  6,382  1,317 

 804,733  1,009,374  814,937 1,019,624 
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31. Borrowings 
   
 Group Company 

 2013 
RM’000 

 2012 
RM’000 

 2013 
RM’000 

 2012 
RM’000 

Non-current        
Unsecured:        
Medium Term Notes:        
- Y2008 CP/MTN Programmes 345,000  360,000  345,000  360,000 
- Y2011 CP/MTN Programmes 420,000  420,000  420,000  420,000 
- Y2012 CP/MTN Programmes 500,000  500,000  500,000  500,000 
- Y2013 CP/MTN Programmes 500,000  -  500,000 - 
        
Secured:        
Obligations under finance 
leases (Note 38(b)) 584  -  -  - 

        

 1,765,584  1,280,000  1,765,000  1,280,000 

        
Current        
Unsecured:        
Medium Term Notes:        
- Y2008 CP/MTN Programmes 315,000  -  315,000  - 
- Y2011 CP/MTN Programmes 305,000  350,000  305,000  350,000 
- Y2012 CP/MTN Programmes 220,000  110,000  220,000  110,000 
Commercial Papers:        
- Y2008 CP/MTN Programmes 173,000  500,000  173,000  500,000 
- Y2011 CP/MTN Programmes 250,000  -  250,000  - 
- Y2012 CP/MTN Programmes 115,000  -  115,000  - 
Revolving credits 173,000  20,000  173,000  20,000 

        
Secured:        
Bank overdrafts 1,231  -  -  - 
Trust receipts 1,841  -  -  - 
Term loans:        
- USD loan at cost of funds 

+2.0% or 2.3% p.a. 211,204  -  -  - 
- USD loan at cost of funds 

+3.0% 80,905  -  -  - 
Obligation under finance 
leases (Note 38 (b)) 229  -  -  - 

 1,846,410  980,000  1,551,000  980,000 

        
Total borrowings 3,611,994  2,260,000  3,316,000  2,260,000 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Sabah Development Bank Berhad - 34638-W 
(Incorporated in Malaysia) 
 
 
Notes to the financial statements 
For the financial year ended 31 December 2013  

90 

 
 
31. Borrowings (continued) 
 

a) Medium Term Notes and Commercial Papers 
 
RM1,000 million CP and/or MTN Programmes (within line, RM500 million CP 
Programme) (“Y2008 CP/MTN Programmes”) 
 
In February 2008, the Company established a RM500 million nominal value 
Commercial Papers (“CP”) Programme and RM1,000 million nominal value Medium 
Term Notes (“MTN”) Programme with the aggregate outstanding of CP and/or MTN not 
exceeding RM1,000 million in nominal value at any point in time. Under these 
programmes, the Company may from time to time issue CP and/or MTN, denominated 
in RM. 
 
As at 31 December 2013, the MTN issued under this programme due from 2014 to 
2018 (2012: 2014 to 2018) and bore interest ranging from 3.90% to 5.25%  (2012: 
4.43% to 5.25%) per annum.  
 
As at 31 December 2013, CP issued under this programme bore interest at rates 
ranging from 3.47% to 3.48% (2012: 3.40% to 3.42%) per annum and have maturity 
period of less than two months. 
 
RM1.0 billion CP and/or MTN Programmes (within line, RM1.0 billion CP Programme) 
(“Y2011 CP/MTN Programmes”) 
 
In January 2011, the Company established a RM1.0 billion nominal value Commercial 
Papers (“CP”) Programme and RM1.0 billion nominal value Medium Term Notes 
(“MTN”) Programme with the aggregate outstanding of CP and/or MTN not exceeding 
RM1.0 billion in nominal value at any point in time. Under these programmes, the 
Company may from time to time issue CP/MTN in series or tranches, denominated in 
RM. 
 
As at 31 December 2013, MTN issued under this programme due from 2014 to 2018 
(2011: 2016 to 2018) and bore interest ranging from 3.88% to 4.75% (2012: 4.43% to 
4.75%) per annum. 
 
As at 31 December 2013, CP issued under this programme bore interest at rates 
ranging from 3.40% to 3.59% (2012: 3.35% to 3.42%) per annum and have maturity 
period of less than two months. 
 
RM1.0 billion CP and/or MTN Programmes (within line, RM1.0 billion CP Programme) 
(“Y2012 CP/MTN Programme”) 
 

In July 2012, the Company established a RM1.0 billion nominal value Commercial 
Papers (“CP”) Programme and RM1.0 billion nominal value Medium Term Notes 
(“MTN”) Programme with the aggregate outstanding of CP and/or MTN not exceeding 
RM1.0 billion in nominal value at any point in time. Under these programmes, the 
Company may from time to time issue CP and/or MTN, denominated in RM. 
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31. Borrowings (continued) 
 

a) Medium Term Notes and Commercial Papers (continued) 
 

RM1.0 billion CP and/or MTN Programmes (within line, RM1.0 billion CP Programme) 
(“Y2012 CP/MTN Programme”) (continued) 
 

During the financial year, the Company issued RM115 million CP under this 
programme. 
 

As at 31 December 2013, MTN issued under this programme due from 2014 to 2022 
(2012: 2013 to 2022) and bore interest ranging from 3.88% to 4.55% (2012: 3.55% to 
4.55%) per annum. 
 

As at 31 December 2013, CP issued under this programme bore interest at rates 
ranging from 3.42% to 3.49% per annum and have maturity period of less than two 
months. 
 

RM1.5 billion CP and/or MTN Programmes (within line, RM1.5 billion CP Programme) 
(“Y2013 CP/MTN Programme”) 
 

In November 2013, the Company established a RM1.5 billion nominal value 
Commercial Papers (“CP”) Programme and RM1.5 billion nominal value Medium Term 
Notes (“MTN”) Programme with the aggregate outstanding of CP and/or MTN not 
exceeding RM1.5 billion in nominal value at any point in time. Under these 
programmes, the Company may from time to time issue CP and/or MTN, denominated 
in RM. 
 

During the financial year, the Company issued RM500 million MTN under this 
programme. 
 

As at 31 December 2013, MTN issued under this programme due from 2013 to 2022 
and bore interest ranging from 4.15% to 4.60% per annum. 
 

b) Revolving credits 
 

As at 31 December 2013, revolving credits facilities bear interest at 3.40% (2012: 
3.30%). The revolving credits facilities have maturity of less than one month. 
 

RM at lender’s prime lending rate +2.25% p.a. 
 

The revolving credit facility is denominated in RM, bears interest at 2.25% per annum 
above bank’s prime lending rate. This revolving credit is secured by: 
i) the entire shares of M3nergy Berhad held by the Company; 
ii) debenture incorporating fixed and floating charge over all the present and future 

fixed and floating assets of the Company; 
iii) assignment over all dividend payments to be received from M3nergy Berhad; 
iv) joint and several guarantee by two of the directors of the Company; 
v) subordination of all shareholders and directors’ advances; and 
vi) assignment by M3nergy Berhad over proceeds from pre initial public offering sell 

down and subsequent relisting of the Floating, Production Storage and 
Offloading/Floating, Storage and Offloading division of M3nergy Berhad on the 
stock exchange. 
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31. Borrowings (continued) 
 

c) Bank overdrafts, bankers’ acceptance and trust receipts 
 
Bank overdrafts 
 
Bank overdrafts are denominated in RM, bear interest at BLR + 1.5% to 2.0% per 
annum. 

 
Trust receipts 
 
Trust receipts are denominated in RM, bear interest at BLR + 1.25% per annum. 
 
The above banking facilities are secured by: 
i) first legal charge for RM14.0 million over 7.271 acres of vacant land, Labuan; 
ii) second legal charge for RM9.0 million over 7.271 acres of vacant land, Labuan; 
iii) first legal charge for RM300,000 over vacant land, Kemaman; 
iv) corporate guarantee of M3nergy Berhad; and 
v) first party charge over RM1.0 million being deposited with the bank. 
 

d) Term loans 
 

USD loan at cost of funds +2.0% or 2.3% p.a. 
 
This represents term loan obtained by a subsidiary, M3nergy Labuan Ltd, from its 
lenders and on-lent to another 2 subsidiaries. Interests on the term loan obtained by 
M3nergy Labuan Ltd are borne by those 2 subsidiaries. This term loan is denominated 
in USD, bear interest at LIBOR + 2.3% per annum or lenders' cost of fund + 2.0% or 
2.3% per annum at each lenders' option.   

 
The term loan obtained is secured by the following: 
i) debenture creating a first fixed and floating charge over all assets, both present and 

future, of M3nergy Labuan Ltd, M3nergy FPSO Perintis Sdn. Bhd. and M3nergy 
JDA Sdn. Bhd.; 

ii) mortgage over vessels owned by M3nergy FPSO Perintis Sdn. Bhd. and M3nergy 
JDA Sdn. Bhd.; 

iii) first priority assignment of proceeds, rights, earnings, insurance and any requisition 
compensation in respect of the vessels; 

iv) charge of the debt service reserve account of M3nergy Labuan Ltd; and 
v) corporate guarantees by M3nergy Berhad, M3nergy FPSO Perintis Sdn. Bhd. and 

M3nergy JDA Sdn. Bhd..  
 

USD loan at cost of funds +3.0% p.a. 
 
This loan is secured by a mortgage over vessel owned by M3nergy Offshore Ltd.  
(Note 22). This loan is denominated in USD, bear interest at lenders’ cost of funds 
+3.0% per annum. 

 
e) Obligations under finance leases 

 
These obligations are secured by a charge over the leased assets. The average 
discount rate implicit in the leases is 5.4% (2012: nil) per annum. 
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32. Other liabilities 
 

          Group     Company 
 2013 

RM’000 
2012 

RM’000 
 2013 

RM’000 
2012 

RM’000 
        

Amount due to holding entity 2,730  1,260  2,730  1,260 
Amounts due to directors 707  566  -  - 
Amount due to minority shareholder 115  115  -  - 
Trade payables 4,227  2,419  -  - 
Interest payable 43,194  33,513  42,578 33,671 
Other payables 77,066  2,775  705  651 
Deposits 51,384  48,341  51,375 48,332 
Accrued expenses 13,996  4,362  3,087  2,645 
Income tax payable 564  10,102  -  - 
Provision for cost of   

decommissioning vessel 
 

92,918 
  

- 
  

- 
  

- 
 286,901  103,453  100,475 86,559 
        

 
a) Amounts due to related parties 

These amounts are unsecured, non-interest bearing and are repayable upon demand. 
 

b) Trade payables 
These amounts are non-interest bearing. Trade payables are normally settled on 30-
day to 60-day terms (2012: 30-day to 60-day) terms.  
 

c) Other payables 
Other payables are non-interest bearing. Other payables are normally settled on 30-
day to 60-day (2012: 30-day to 60-day) terms. 

 
d) Deposits 

Included in deposits of the Group and of the Company is an amount of RM50,000,000 
(2012: RM47,000,000) which represents deposits received from the purchaser of the 
long term leasehold land of the Company (Note 24). 
 

e) Accrued expenses 
Included in accrued expenses of the Group and of the Company are vacation and outfit 
allowances for directors of RM1,031,000 (2012: RM833,000). 
 

f) Provision for cost of decommissioning vessel 
Included in the provision for cost of decommissioning vessel amounting to 
RM92,918,000 is cost of decommissioning vessel of RM48,263,000 which are 
expected to be reimbursable by the time charterer (Note 29). This represents the best 
estimate of costs required to settle the decommissioning liabilities. 
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33. Defined benefit obligations 

  
 Group and Company 

 2013 
RM’000 

 2012 
RM’000 

    
At 1 January 6,545  6,564 
Current service costs 741  814 
Benefits paid (1,032)  (833) 
Past service costs (6)  - 

At 31 December 6,248  6,545 

    
The Company operates an unfunded defined benefit retirement plan. The benefit plan 
become vested after ten years of service. The costs of defined benefit plan are determined 
based on employees’ basic salary and the number of completed years of service. No 
actuarial valuation has been conducted on the defined benefit plan as the directors 
consider the discounting effects of defined benefit obligations and any actuarial gains or 
losses to be insignificant to the Company. 

 
 
34. Share capital 
 

  Number of ordinary 
shares of RM1 each 

 
          Amount 

  2013 
’000 

   2012 
’000 

2013 
RM’000 

   2012 
 RM’000 

         
Issued and fully 
 paid-up share capital 

        

At 1 January 500,000 430,000 500,000 430,000 
Issued during the year  20,000  70,000  20,000  70,000 
         

At 31 December 520,000 500,000 520,000 500,000 

         
Authorised share capital         
At 1 January 500,000 430,000 500,000 430,000 
Created during the year  20,000  70,000  20,000  70,000 
         

At 31 December 520,000 500,000 520,000 500,000 

         

The holder of ordinary shares is entitled to receive dividends as and when declared by the 
Company. All ordinary shares carry one vote per share without restrictions and rank 
equally with regard to the Company’s residual assets. 
 
Issue of shares 
 
During the financial year, the Company increased its: 
 
a) authorised share capital from RM500,000,000 to RM520,000,000 by the creation of 

20,000,000 ordinary shares of RM1 each; and 
 

b) issued and paid-up share capital from RM500,000,000 to RM520,000,000 by an 
allotment of 20,000,000 ordinary shares of RM1 each at par for cash. 
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35. Other reserves 

 
Fair value adjustment reserve 
Fair value adjustment reserve represents the cumulative fair value changes, net of tax, of 
available-for-sale financial assets until they are disposed of or impaired. 
 
Foreign currency translation reserve 
The foreign currency translation reserve represents exchange differences arising from the 
translation of the financial statements of foreign operations whose functional currencies are 
different from the Group’s presentation currency. 
 
 

36. Retained earnings 
 
Prior to the year of assessment 2008, Malaysian companies adopted the full imputation 
system.  In accordance with the Finance Act 2007 which was gazetted on 28 December 
2007, companies shall not be entitled to deduct tax on dividend paid, credited or distributed 
to its shareholders, and such dividends will be exempted from tax in the hands of the 
shareholders (“single tier system”).  However, there is a transitional period of six years, 
expiring on 31 December 2013, to allow companies to pay franked dividends to their 
shareholders under limited circumstances.  Companies also have an irrevocable option to 
disregard the 108 balance and opt to pay dividends under the single tier system.  This 
change in the tax legislation also provides for the 108 balance to be locked-in as at 31 
December 2007 in accordance with Section 39 of the Finance Act 2007. 
 
The Company did not elect for the irrevocable option to disregard the 108 balance. 
Accordingly, during the transitional period, the Company may utilise the credit in the 108 
balance as at 31 December 2013 and 2012 to distribute cash dividend payments to 
ordinary shareholdings as defined under the Finance Act 2007. As at 31 December 2013, 
the Company has sufficient credit in the 108 balance and balance in the tax exempt 
income account to pay franked dividends amounting to RM547,000 (2012: RM70,547,000) 
out of its retained earnings. If the balance of the retained earnings of RM260,344,000 
(2012: RM164,505,000) were to be distributed as dividends, the Company may distribute 
such dividends under the single tier system.  
 
As at 31 December 2013, the Company has sufficient balance in the tax exempt income 
account to pay franked dividends amounting to RM436,000 out of its retained earnings 
(2012: RM436,000).   
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37. Related party transactions 
 

a) Sale and purchase of services 
  
In addition to the related party information disclosed detailed elsewhere in the financial 
statements, the following significant transactions between the Group and related 
parties took place at terms agreed between the parties during the financial year: 
   
   Group      Company 

 2013 
RM’000 

 2012 
RM’000 

 2013 
RM’000 

 2012 
RM’000 

        
Sale of bulk water and services   
   rendered to holding entity 

 
61,352 

  
60,841 

  
- 

  
- 

Interest payable to:        
- holding entity 35,775  39,123  35,775  39,123 
- subsidiaries -  -  346  330 
- an associate 226  209  226  209 
Interest receivable from:        
- holding entity 27,114  27,404  -  - 
- subsidiaries   -  30,326  29,484 
Service fee payable to an  
   associate 

127  127  127  127 

Rental expense payable to  
   holding entity 

 
483 

  
483 

  
433 

  
433 

        
The above related party transactions are negotiated based on terms and conditions 
agreed between the related parties and the Company. 

 
b) Compensation of key management personnel 

 
   Group      Company 

 2013 
RM’000 

 2012 
RM’000 

 2013 
RM’000 

 2012 
RM’000 

        

Short-term employee benefits 8,231  3,087  2,691  1,675 
EPF and social security  
   contributions 814  297  265  135 
Other short term benefits 66  767  65  737 
        

 9,111  4,151  3,021  2,547 
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38.    Lease commitments 
 

As of the end of the financial year, lease commitments in respect of rental of premises are 
as follow: 
 
a) Operating lease commitments 
   
  Group       Company 

 2013 
RM’000 

 2012 
RM’000 

 2013 
RM’000 

 2012 
RM’000 

Future minimum lease 
payments: 

       

Not later than one year 1,315  79  -  - 
Later than one year and 
not later than five years 

 
218 

  
- 

  
- 

  
- 

Later than five years 10  -  -  - 

 1,543  79  -  - 

        
 

b) Finance lease commitments 
 

The Group has finance leases for certain items of property, plant and equipment  
(Note 31). These leases do not have terms of renewal, but have purchase options at 
nominal values at the end of the lease term. 

 
Future minimum lease payments under finance leases together with the present value 
of the net minimum lease payments are as follows: 

 
  
 Group 

 2013 
RM’000 

 2012 
RM’000 

    
Minimum lease payments:    
Not later than 1 year 255  - 
Later than 1 year but not later than 2 years 338  - 
Later than 2 years but not later than 5 years 317  - 

Total minimum lease payments 910  - 
Less: Amount representing finance charges (97)  - 

Present value minimum lease payments 813  - 

    
Present value of payments:    
Not later than 1 year 229  - 
Later than 1 year but not later than 2 years 302  - 
Later than 2 years but not later than 5 years 282  - 

Present value of minimum lease payments 813  - 
Less: Amount due within 1 year (Note 31) (229)  - 

Amount due after 1 year (Note 31) 584  - 
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39. Commitments and contingencies 
 

In the normal course of business, the Group and the Company make various commitments 
and incur certain contingent liabilities with legal recourse to their customers. No material 
losses are anticipated as a result of these transactions. 
 
The commitments and contingencies constitute the following: 
   
   Group        Company 

 2013 
RM’000 

 2012 
RM’000 

 2013 
RM’000 

 2012 
RM’000 

        
Capital expenditure:        
 Approved and contracted for 333,270  2,560  91  97 
 Approved but not contracted  
  for 

 
9,135 

  
13,012 

  
- 

  
- 

Irrevocable commitments to 
 extend credit with maturity 
 exceeding one year 

 
 

1,918,345 

 
 

2,077,651 

 
 

1,939,150 

 
 

2,077,651 
Guarantees issued 301,040  275,394  302,173  275,394 

 2,561,790 2,368,617 2,241,414 2,353,142 

        
Arbitration 
 
On 12 January 2009, M3nergy Berhad (a subsidiary of the Group as at the reporting date), 
received a letter from Oil and Natural Gas Corporation ("ONGC") dated 6 January 2009 
addressed to Prize Petroleum Co. Ltd ("PPCL"), Hindustan Petroleum Corporation Ltd 
("HPCL") and M3nergy Berhad ("Consortium") giving notice of termination of contract for 
the development of offshore marginal fields of Cluster 7, off Mumbai, India ("Cluster 7 
Project"). ONGC viewed that the Consortium partners could not meet their contractual 
obligations under the contract due to perceived disharmony in the relationship amongst 
Consortium partners. 
 
HPCL and PPCL, as claimants, have commenced arbitration proceedings and named 
M3nergy Berhad as the respondent. On 15 May 2009, M3nergy Berhad received a Notice 
of Arbitration from an Indian law firm, acting on behalf of HPCL, claiming damages for loss 
of profit, reputation and further disputes with regards to the termination of the Cluster 7 
Project by ONGC amounting to INR515 crores (equivalent to approximately RM288 
million).        
 
On 13 January 2014, a partial award was awarded in favour of HPCL and PPCL citing the 
Joint Executing Agreement as a concluded contract and M3nergy Berhad is found to be in 
breach of the Joint Executing Agreement (“Interim Award”). 
 
Based on the above decision, M3nergy Berhad on 2 May 2014 submitted a petition to the 
High Court of Bombay, to set aside the Interim Award. The legal advice obtained suggests 
that M3nergy Berhad has a strong case to set aside the Interim Award. 
 
M3nergy Berhad has applied to High Court of Bombay at Mumbai to set aside the Interim 
Award. Based on legal advice obtained by M3nergy Berhad, M3nergy Berhad has strong 
case to set aside the Interim Award in the High Court of Bombay.  
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39. Commitments and contingencies (continued) 
 

Arbitration (continued) 
 

As to the extent of the quantum of damages to be awarded by the Arbitration Tribunal, 
based on legal opinion, it is likely to be confined to the direct losses only. The opinion is 
drawn from a specific clause in the Joint Executing Agreement whereby loss of profits are 
excluded. Therefore it is likely that the Arbitration Tribunal may find M3nergy Berhad liable 
for INR46 crores (equivalent to approximately RM25 million) instead. 
 

However, M3nergy Berhad was further advised that if the final arbitration award was issued 
while application to set aside the Interim Award was still pending, M3nergy Berhad could 
file a petition to challenge the final award and both petitions would then be heard together 
by the High Court of Bombay. 

 
 

40. Fair value of financial instruments  
 

A. Fair value of financial instruments that are carried at fair value  
 

The Group categories fair value measurements using a fair value hierarchy that is 
dependent on the valuation inputs used as follows: 
 

- Level 1 – Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active market for identical assets or 
liabilities that the Group can access at the measurement date, 

 

- Level 2 – Inputs other that quoted prices included within Level 1 that are 
observable for the asset or liability, either directly or indirectly, and  

 

- Level 3 – Unobservable inputs for the asset or liability. 
 

Fair value measurements that use inputs of different hierarchy levels are categorised in 
its entirety in the same level of the fair value hierarchy as the lowest level input that is 
significant to the entire measurement. 
 

B. Assets and liabilities measured at fair value 
 

The following table shows an analysis of each class of assets and liabilities measured 
at fair value at the end of the reporting period: 
 

 
  

 Fair value measurements at the end of the 
reporting period using 

 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total 
 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 
     

Recurring fair value 
measurements 

    

     

Group 
2013 
Assets 

    

Securities held-for-trading 37,842 - - 37,842 
Securities available-for-sale 103,247 - - 103,247 

     
Liabilities     
Derivative liabilities - - - - 
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40. Fair value of financial instruments (continued) 
 

B. Assets and liabilities measured at fair value 
 

 
 
 

 

C. Level 2 fair value measurements 
 

The following is a description of the valuation techniques and inputs used in the fair 
value measurement for assets and liabilities that are categorised within Level 2 of the 
fair value hierarchy:  
 

Derivatives  
 

Forward currency contracts and interest rate swap contracts are valued using a 
valuation technique with market observable inputs. The most frequently applied 
valuation techniques include forward pricing and swap models, using present value 
calculations. The models incorporate various inputs including the credit quality of 
counterparties, foreign exchange spot and forward rates, interest rate curves and 
forward rate curves.  

 Fair value measurements at the end of the 
reporting period using 

 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total 
 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 
     

Recurring fair value 
measurements 

    

     

Group 
2012 
Assets 

    

Securities held-for-trading 35,554 - - 35,554 
Securities available-for-sale 101,049 - - 101,049 

     

Liabilities     
Derivative liabilities - 862 - 862 

     

Company 
2013 
Assets 

    

Securities held-for-trading 37,839 - - 37,839 
Securities available-for-sale 8,845 - - 8,845 

     

Liabilities     
Derivative liabilities - - - - 

     

2012 
Assets 

    

Securities held-for-trading 35,554 - - 35,554 
Securities available-for-sale 4,434 - - 4,434 

     

Liabilities     
Derivative liabilities - 862 - 862 
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40. Fair value of financial instruments (continued) 
 

D. Fair value of financial instruments by classes that are not carried at fair value 
and whose carrying amounts are not reasonable approximation of fair value 

 

The fair value of financial assets and liabilities by classes that are not carried at fair 
value and whose carrying amounts are not reasonable approximation of fair value are 
as follows: 
 

  2013 2012 

 Note 
Carrying 
amount 
RM’000 

Fair  
value 

RM’000 

Carrying 
amount 
RM’000 

Fair  
value 

RM’000 
      

Group 
Financial assets: 

     

Securities held-to-maturity 19 64,500 # 34,000 # 
Redeemable convertible secured 

loan stocks and redeemable 
secured loan stocks 22 25,802 # 24,810 # 

      

Financial liabilities:      

Borrowings (non-current) 31 1,765,584 1,765,584 1,280,000 1,280,000 
      

Company 
Financial assets:      
Securities held-to-maturity 19 64,500 # 34,000 # 
Redeemable convertible secured 

loan stocks and redeemable 
secured loan stocks 22 25,802 # 24,810 # 

 
Financial liabilities:      

Borrowings (non-current) 31 1,765,000 1,765,000 1,280,000 1,280,000 
      
# Fair value information has not been disclosed for these financial liabilities because fair 

value cannot be measured reliably. 
 
 

41. Financial risk management objectives and policies 
 

The Group’s and the Company’s risk management objectives and policies are to provide 
adequate emphasis to sound risk control, identify risks and recommend strategies to 
manage or mitigate losses and assist the management and the directors to steer the 
Group and the Company in line with the regulatory requirements in Malaysia. 
 

The Group and the Company are exposed to financial risks arising from its operations and 
the use of financial instruments. The key financial risks include credit risk, liquidity risk, 
interest rate risk and market price risk. 
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41. Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued) 
 

The Board of Directors reviews and agrees policies and procedures for the management of 
these risks, which are executed by the officers appointed by the management. The audit 
committee provides independent oversight to the effectiveness of the risk management 
process.  

 
The following sections provide details regarding the Group’s and the Company’s exposure to 
the above-mentioned financial risks and the objectives, policies and processes for the 
management of these risks. 

 
a) Financial instruments by category 
 

              Group              Company 
 2013 

RM’000 
 2012 

RM’000 
 2013 

RM’000 
 2012 

RM’000 
        
Financial assets        
Financial assets at fair value 
 through profit or loss: 

 
 

  
 

  
 

  
 

- Securities held-for-trading 37,842  35,554  37,839  35,554 

        
Loans and receivables:        
- Cash and short-term funds 58,158  72,736  10,907  63,571 
- Deposits and placements 
    with financial institutions 

 
191,761 

  
85,276 

  
43,871 

  
46,918 

- Loans, advances 
   and financing 

 
2,896,939 

  
2,654,368 

  
4,178,148 

  
3,271,629 

- Other assets 776,014  733,339  543,736  528,174 

        
Available for sale financial 
 assets 

       

Securities available-for-sale 103,247  101,049  8,845  4,434 

        
Held to maturity financial 
 assets 

       

Securities held-to-maturity 64,500  34,000  64,500  34,000 

        
Financial liabilities        
Financial liabilities held for 
 trading 

       

Derivative liabilities -  862  -  862 

        
Other financial liabilities        
-Deposits from customers 804,733  1,009,374  814,937  1,019,624 
-Borrowings 3,611,994  2,260,000  3,316,000  2,260,000 
-Other liabilities 286,901  103,453  100,475  86,559 
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41. Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued) 

 
b) Credit risk 

 
Credit risk is the risk of loss that may arise on outstanding financial instruments 
should a counterparty default on its obligations. The Group’s and the Company’s 
exposure to credit risk arises primarily from lending, trade finance, investments and 
other credit-related activities undertaken by the Group and the Company. For other 
financial assets (including investment securities, cash and bank balances, and 
derivatives), the Group and the Company minimise credit risk by dealing exclusively 
with high credit rating counterparties.  
 
The Group’s objective is to seek continual revenue growth while minimising losses 
incurred due to increased credit risk exposure.  
 
The Group’s policy is to manage their credit risk through the application of good 
credit approvals, credit limits, monitoring procedures and credit assessment. 
 
The directors are responsible for assessing credit risk recommended by the 
management. They are also responsible for providing directions and timely guidance 
on lending to different economic sectors and industries. 
 
In general, the Group and the Company monitor the levels of credit risk they 
undertake through regular review by the management, with independent oversight of 
their credit concentration and portfolio quality by the directors. 
 
In respect of their lending-related activities, the management regularly reviews the 
amount of risk accepted in relation to one borrower or groups of borrowers, 
economic sectors and industry segments, types of acceptable security, level of non-
performing loans and adequacy of provisioning requirements. 
 
Exposure to credit risk  
 
At the reporting date, the Group’s and the Company’s maximum exposure to credit 
risk is represented by: 
- the carrying amount of each class of financial assets recognised in the statements 

of financial position, including derivatives with positive fair values and 
- guarantees issued in favour of customers. 

 
The following analysis represents the Group’s and the Company’s maximum 
exposure to credit risk of on-balance sheet financial assets and off-balance sheet 
exposure, without taking into account of any collateral held or other credit 
enhancements. For on-balance sheet financial assets, the exposure to credit risk 
equals their carrying amount. For off-balance sheet exposures, the maximum 
exposure to credit risk is the maximum amount that the Group and the Company 
would have to pay if the obligations of the instruments issued are called upon and/or 
the full amount of the undrawn credit facilities granted to customers.  
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41. Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued) 
 

b) Credit risk (continued) 
 

 Group  Company 
 2013 

RM’000 
 2012 

RM’000 
 2013 

RM’000 
 2012 

RM’000 
        
Credit exposures or 
on-balance sheet 
assets: 

       

Cash and short term 
funds – money at 
call 58,158  72,736  10,907  63,571 

Deposits and 
placements with 
financial institutions 191,761  85,276  43,871  46,918 

Securities held-for-
trading 37,842  35,554  37,839  35,554 

Securities available-
for-sale   103,247  101,049  8,845  4,434 

Securities held-to-
maturity 64,500  34,000  64,500  34,000 

Loans, advances and 
financing 2,896,939  2,654,368  4,178,148  3,271,629 

Other assets – loans 
and receivables 749,732  713,936  538,597  516,496 

 4,102,179 3,696,919  4,882,707  3,972,602 

        
Credit exposure for 
off-balance sheet 
items: 

       

Irrevocable 
commitments to 
extend credit 1,918,345  2,077,651  1,939,150  2,077,651 

Guarantees issued 301,040  275,394  302,173  275,394 

  2,219,385 2,353,045  2,241,323  2,353,045 

         
Total maximum 
credit risk 
exposure 6,321,564  6,049,964  7,124,030  6,325,647 

         
The financial effect of collateral (quantification of the extent to which collateral and other credit 
enhancements mitigate credit risk) held for loans, advances and financing for the Group and 
the Company is at 321% (2012: 234%) and 233% (2012: 190%) as at 31 December 2013. The 
financial effect of collateral held for other financial assets is not significant. 
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41. Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued) 
 

b) Credit risk (continued) 
 
Collaterals 
 
Exposure to credit risk is also managed in part by obtaining collateral or right to call 
for collateral when certain exposure thresholds are exceeded, the right to terminate 
transactions upon the occurrence of unfavourable events, the right to reset the terms 
of transactions after specified time periods or upon the occurrence of unfavourable 
events, and entering into netting agreements with counterparties that permit the 
Group and the Company to offset receivables and payables with such 
counterparties. 
 
The main types of collateral obtained by the Group and the Company to mitigate 
credit risk are as follows: 
 
- for construction and real estate loans: charges over the project land being 

financed 
- for share margin financing – pledges over securities from listed exchange 
- for other loans – charges over landed properties and other assets 
- for staff housing loans – charges over residential properties 
- for staff car loans – ownership claims over vehicles financed 
 

c) Liquidity risk  
 
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group or the Company will encounter difficulty in 
meeting financial obligations due to shortage of funds. The Group’s and the 
Company’s exposure to liquidity risk arises primarily from mismatches of the 
maturities of financial assets and liabilities. The Group’s and the Company’s 
objective is to maintain a balance between continuity of funding and flexibility through 
the use of stand-by credit facilities. 

 
The Group and the Company monitor and maintain sufficient liquidity and the 
availability of funding through liquid funding placements and an adequate amount of 
committed credit facilities from both the domestic banks and the capital markets. In 
addition, the Group and the Company actively manage their cash flow projections to 
ensure collection on loans and asset-maturities are adequate to meet the Group’s 
and the Company’s debt-serving commitments and/or any other funding 
requirements. 
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41. Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued) 
 

c) Liquidity risk (continued) 
 

Analysis of financial instruments by remaining contractual maturities 
 
The table below summarises the maturity profile of the Group’s and the Company’s financial assets and financial liabilities at the 
reporting date based on remaining contractual maturities. 

       
 
 
 
 
2013 

 
 

Less than  
1 year 

RM’000 

More than 1 
and less 

than 2 
years 

RM’000 

More than 2 
and less 

than 5 
years 

RM’000 

 
 

More than  
5 years 
RM’000 

 
 
 

Total 
RM’000 

Group      
Financial assets:      
Cash and short-term funds 58,158 - - - 58,158 
Deposits and placements with financial institutions 191,761 - - - 191,761 
Securities held-for-trading 37,842 - - - 37,842 
Securities available-for-sale - - - 103,247 103,247 
Securities held-to-maturity - - - 64,500 64,500 
Loans, advances and financing 1,644,068 964,336 181,730 106,805 2,896,939 
Other assets 749,732 - - - 749,732 

 2,681,561 964,336 181,730 274,552 4,102,179 

Financial liabilities:      
Other liabilities 213,772 50,257 12,822 9,486 286,337 
Deposits from customers 801,906 2,827 - - 804,733 
Borrowings 1,846,410 584 1,170,000 595,000 3,611,994 
Derivative liabilities - - - - - 

 2,862,088 53,668 1,182,822 604,486 4,703,064 

 (180,527) 910,668 (1,001,092) (329,934) (600,885) 
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41. Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued) 
 

c) Liquidity risk (continued) 
 

Analysis of financial instruments by remaining contractual maturities (continued) 
       

 
 
 
 
2012 

 
 

Less than  
1 year 

RM’000 

More than 1 
and less 

than 2 
years 

RM’000 

More than 2 
and less 

than 5 
years 

RM’000 

 
 

More than  
5 years 
RM’000 

 
 
 

Total 
RM’000 

Group      
Financial assets:      
Cash and short-term funds 72,736 - - - 72,736 
Deposits and placements with financial institutions 85,276 - - - 85,276 
Securities held-for-trading 35,554 - - - 35,554 
Securities available-for-sale - - - 101,049 101,049 
Securities held-to-maturity - - - 34,000 34,000 
Loans, advances and financing 1,455,099 825,542 208,277 165,450 2,654,368 
Other assets 713,936 - - - 713,936 

 2,362,601 825,542 208,277 300,499 3,696,919 

Financial liabilities:      
Other liabilities 46,351 47,000 - - 93,351 
Deposits from customers 459,374 550,000 - - 1,009,374 
Borrowings 980,000 - 770,000 510,000 2,260,000 
Derivatives liabilities 862 - - - 862 

 1,486,587 597,000 770,000 510,000 3,363,587 

 876,014 228,542 (561,723) (209,501) 333,332 
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41. Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued) 
 

c) Liquidity risk (continued) 
 
Analysis of financial instruments by remaining contractual maturities (continued) 
 
 
 
 
2013 

 
Less than  

1 month 
RM’000 

 
1-3  

months 
RM’000 

 
3 months  
to 1 year 

RM’000 

More than 1 
and less than 

2 years 
RM’000 

More than 2 
and less than 

5 years 
RM’000 

 
More than  

5 years 
RM’000 

 
 

Total 
RM’000 

Company        
Financial assets:        
Cash and short-term funds 10,907 - - - - - 10,907 
Deposits and placements with 

financial institutions 20,650 381 22,840 - - - 43,871 
Securities held-for-trading 37,839 - - - - - 37,839 
Securities available-for-sale - - - - - 8,845 8,845 
Securities held-to-maturity - - - - 64,500 - 64,500 
Loans, advances and financing 1,460,223 24 1,465,030 964,336 181,730 106,805 4,178,148 
Other assets 538,597 - - - - - 538,597 

 2,068,216 405 1,487,870 964,336 246,230 115,650 4,882,707 

Financial liabilities:        
Other liabilities 3,843 1,306 22,761 50,257 12,822 9,486 100,475 
Deposits from customers 55,073 103,459 653,578 2,827 - - 814,937 
Borrowings 666,000 100,000 785,000 - 1,170,000 595,000 3,316,000 
Derivative liabilities - - - - - - - 

 724,916 204,765 1,461,339 53,084 1,182,822 604,486 4,231,412 

 1,343,300 (204,360) 26,531 911,252 (936,592) (488,836) 651,295 
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41. Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued) 
 

c) Liquidity risk (continued) 
 
Analysis of financial instruments by remaining contractual maturities (continued) 

        
 
 
 
2012 

 
Less than  

1 month 
RM’000 

 
1-3  

months 
RM’000 

 
3 months  
to 1 year 

RM’000 

More than 1 
and less than 

2 years 
RM’000 

More than 2 
and less than 

5 years 
RM’000 

 
More than  

5 years 
RM’000 

 
 

Total 
RM’000 

Company        
Financial assets:        
Cash and short-term funds 63,571 - - - - - 63,571 
Deposits and placements with 

financial institutions 
 

24,524 
 

380 
 

22,014 
 

- 
 

- 
 

- 
 

46,918 
Securities held-for-trading 35,554 - - - - - 35,554 
Securities available-for-sale - - - - - 4,434 4,434 
Securities held-to-maturity - - - - - 34,000 34,000 
Loans, advances and financing 1,185,350 27 886,983 825,543 208,277 165,449 3,271,629 
Other assets 516,496 - - - - - 516,496 

 1,825,495 407 908,997 825,543 208,277 203,883 3,972,602 

Financial liabilities:        
Other liabilities 9,894 17,307 12,358 47,000 - - 86,559 
Deposits from customers 91,074 35,047 343,503 550,000 - - 1,019,624 
Borrowings 660,000 210,000 110,000 - 770,000 510,000 2,260,000 
Derivative liabilities - - 862 - - - 862 

 760,968 262,354 466,723 597,000 770,000 510,000 3,367,045 

 1,064,527 (261,947) 442,274 228,543 (561,723) (306,117) 605,557 
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41. Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued) 
 

d) Interest rate risk 
 
Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of the Group’s and 
the Company’s financial instruments will fluctuate because of changes in market 
interest rates. 
 
The Group’s and the Company’s exposure to interest rate risk arises primarily from 
their money at call and deposits and placements with financial institutions, loans, 
advances and financing, deposits from customers, borrowings and derivative financial 
liabilities.  
 
The Group’s and the Company’s policy is to manage their interest cost by maintaining 
a mix of fixed and floating rate borrowings and by spreading out the timing of interest 
rate fixing. In addition, the Group’s and the Company’s interest-bearing financial 
liabilities are hedged by interest-bearing financial assets, such as money at call, 
deposits and placements with financial institutions, deposit from customers and 
loans, advances and financing. 
 
Sensitivity analysis for interest rate risk 

 
At the reporting date, if interest rates had been 10 basis points higher/lower, with all 
other variables held constant, the Group’s and the Company’s profit net of tax would 
have been RM497,000 (2012: RM322,000) and RM686,000 (2012: RM785,000) 
higher/lower respectively, arising mainly as a result of the Group’s and the 
Company’s exposure to interest rates on their variable rate financial assets and 
financial liabilities. The assumed movement in basis points for interest rate sensitivity 
analysis is based on the currently observable market environment. 

 
e) Market price risk 

 
Market price risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of the Group’s 
financial instruments will fluctuate because of changes in market prices (other than 
interest or exchange rates).  
 
The Group and the Company are exposed to equity price risk arising from their 
investment in quoted equity instruments. The quoted equity instruments in Malaysia 
are listed on the Bursa Malaysia, whereas the quoted equity instruments outside 
Malaysia are listed on foreign stock exchanges. These instruments are classified as 
held for trading and available-for-sale financial assets. The Group does not have 
exposure to commodity price risk.  
 
Market risk is monitored through the market risk management system with the 
establishment of relevant overseeing committees as part of the overall risk 
management of the Group and the Company. 
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41. Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued) 
 

e) Market price risk (continued) 
 
Sensitivity analysis for equity price risk 
 
At the reporting date, if the market prices of the quoted equity instruments had been 
5% higher/lower, with all other variables held constant, the Group’s and the 
Company’s profit net of tax would have been RM1,419,000 (2012: RM1,333,000) and 
RM1,419,000 (2012: RM1,333,000) higher/lower respectively, arising mainly as a 
result of higher/lower fair value gains on held for trading investments in equity 
instruments, and the Group’s and the Company’s other reserve in equity would have 
been RM5,052,000 (2012: RM4,987,000) and RM332,000 (2012: RM166,000) 
higher/lower, arising as a result of an increase/decrease in the fair value of equity 
instruments classified as available-for-sale.  
 

 
42. Capital management 

 
The primary objective of the Group’s capital management is to ensure that it maintains a 
strong credit rating and healthy capital ratios in order to support its business and maximise 
shareholder value. The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group will 
be able to continue as going concerns while maximising the return to stakeholders through 
the optimisation of the debt and equity balance. The Group’s overall strategy remains 
unchanged from 2012. 
 
The capital structure of the Group consists of net debt (borrowings offset by cash and 
short-term funds) and equity of the Group (comprising issued capital, reserves, retained 
earnings and non-controlling interests). 
 
The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it, in light of changes in 
economic conditions. To maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the 
dividend payment to shareholders, return capital to shareholders or issue new shares. No 
changes were made in the objectives, policies or processes during the years ended 31 
December 2013 and 31 December 2012. 
 
The Company is not subject to any externally imposed capital requirements. 
 
The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which is debt divided by total capital plus 
debt. The Group’s policy is to keep the gearing ratio between 50% and 100%.  
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42. Capital management (continued) 
 
 Group  Company 
 2013 

RM’000 
 2012 

RM’000 
 2013 

RM’000 
 2012 

RM’000 
 
 

       

Debt - borrowings 3,611,994 2,260,000  3,316,000  2,260,000 
        
Capital – total equity 656,019  600,174  779,861  734,061 
Less: fair value adjustment  
 reserve 

 
2,087 

  
(1,204) 

  
1,030 

  
991 

Total capital 658,106  598,970  780,891  735,052 

Capital and net debt 4,270,100 2,858,970  4,096,891  2,995,052 

 
Gearing ratio 

 
85% 

  
79% 

  
81% 

  
75% 

        
 

43. Islamic banking business 
 

The financial performance for the financial year ended 31 December 2013 and the financial 
position as of that date under the Islamic Banking business of the Company included in the 
financial statements of the Group and of the Company are summarised as follows: 
 
Statement of comprehensive income for the year ended 31 December 2013 
   
  Group and Company 

   Note  2013 
RM’000 

 2012 
RM’000 

      
Income (a)  758  765 
Write-back of allowance for impairment losses on  
   loans and financing 

 
(b) 

  
11 

  
11 

Total income   769  776 
Other expense   -  - 

Profit for the year   769  776 
Other comprehensive income   -  - 

Total comprehensive income for the year   769  776 
Retained earnings brought forward   10,194  9,418 

Retained earnings carried forward (c)  10,963  10,194 
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43. Islamic banking business (continued) 

 
Statement of financial position as of 31 December 2013 
 

   Group and Company 
 Note  2013 

RM’000 
 2012 

RM’000 
Assets       
Cash and short-term funds (d)  24  40 
Deposits and placements with financial 
institutions 

 
(e) 

  
22,511 

  
21,714 

Financing assets    (f)  49  61 

Total assets   22,584  21,815 

      
Islamic banking funds (c)  22,584  21,815 

      
a) Income 

   Group and Company 
   2013 

RM’000 
 2012 

RM’000 
      

Income derived from investment of funds allocated:     
Mudharabah placements   756  763 
Income from financing    2  2 

   758  765 

      
b) Write-back of allowance for impairment losses on loans and financing 

 
 Group and Company 
 2013 

RM’000 
 2012 

RM’000 
    
Individual impairment losses written back during the 
financial year 

 
11 

  
11 

Collective impairment losses written back during the 
financial year 

 
- 

  
- 

 11  11 

    
c) Islamic banking funds 

 
Funds allocated 11,621  11,621 
Retained earnings 10,963  10,194 

 22,584  21,815 
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43. Islamic banking business (continued) 
 

d) Cash and short-term funds 
 
 Group and Company 
 2013 

RM’000 
 2012 

RM’000 
    

Cash and bank balances with banks and 
   other financial institutions 

 
24 

  
40 

    
 

e) Deposits and placements with financial institutions 
 
 Group and Company 
 2013 

RM’000 
 2012 

RM’000 
Money market instrument:    
   Mudharabah placements 22,511  21,714 

    
f) Financing assets 

    
Term financing 652  677 
Unearned income (4)  (6) 

Gross financing assets 648  671 
    
Less:    
  Allowance for impairment losses:    
  Individual  (598)  (609) 
  Collective (1)  (1) 

 (599)  (610) 

Net financing assets 49  61 

    
i) Gross financing assets analysed by concepts are as follows: 

 
 Group and Company 
 2013 

RM’000 
 2012 

RM’000 
    

Al-Bai’ Baithaman Ajil 648  671 
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43. Islamic banking business (continued) 
 

ii) The maturity structure of gross financing assets is as follows: 
 

 Group and Company 
 2013 

RM’000 
 2012 

RM’000 
    

Within one year 602  613 
Over five years 46  58 

 648  671 
    

 
iii) Gross financing assets analysed by their economic purposes are as follows: 

 

 Group and Company 
 2013 

RM’000 
 2012 

RM’000 
    

Housing 46  58 
Others 602  613 

 648  671 

 
 

44. Dividends 
   
Dividends on ordinary shares:   
   

- First interim dividend: 
- 2013: 13.33% less 25% taxation, on 500,000,000 ordinary  

          shares (13.33 sen per ordinary shares) 
- 2012: 10.46% less 25% taxation, on 430,000,000 ordinary 
              shares (10.46 sen per ordinary shares) 50,000 33,750 

- Second interim dividend: 
- 2013: 5.33% less 25% taxation, on 500,000,000 ordinary  
             shares (5.33 sen per ordinary shares) 
- 2012: 21.86% less 25% taxation, on 430,000,000 ordinary 

         shares (21.86 sen per ordinary shares) 20,000 70,500 
- Third interim dividend: 

- 2012: 23.49% less 25% taxation, on 430,000,000 ordinary 
             shares (23.49% per ordinary shares) - 75,750 

   

 70,000 180,000 
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45. Authorisation of financial statements for issue 
 

The financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2013 were authorised for issue 
in accordance with a resolution of the directors on 26 May 2014. 

 
 




